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Glossary of 

BE Built Environment

CBE Council for the Built Environment

CEO Chief Executive Of cer

CHE Council on Higher Education

COP Code of Practice

CPD Continuing Professional Development

CPUT Cape University of Technology

CUT Central University of Technology

DHET Department of Higher Education and Training

DME Department of Minerals and Energy

DoL Department of Labour

DPW Department of Public Works

DUT Durban University of Technology

ECN Engineering Council of Namibia

ECSA Engineering Council of South Africa

ECZ Engineering Council of Zimbabwe

EMF Engineers Mobility Forum

EP Engineering Profession

EPA Engineering Profession Act, 2000 (Act No 46 of 2000)

EPAC Engineering Programme Accreditation Committee

EPQEC Engineering Programme Quali cations and Examinations 
Committee

ESGB Engineering Standards Generating Body 

ETMF Engineering Technologists’ Mobility Forum

EXCO Executive Committee
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HEQC Higher Education Quali cation Council

HEQF Higher Education Quali cations Framework 

HESA Higher Education South Africa

IAC International Affairs Committee

ICE Institution of Civil Engineers

IFEES International Federation of Engineering Education Societies

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

IT Information Technology

JIC Joint Implementation Committee

MoU Memorandum of Understanding

MUT Mangosuthu University of Technology

NATED National Technical Education

NC National Certi cate

NHBRC National Home Builders Registration Council

NQF National Quali cations Framework

NRCS National Regulator for Compulsory Speci cations

PAC Professional Advisory Committee

SAC Strategic Advisory Committee

SACPE South African Council for Professional Engineers

SALGA South African Local Government Association

SAQA South African Quali cations Authority

SASEE South African Society of Engineering Education

SAYEP South African Youth into Engineering Programme

SEESA Society of Engineering Educators South Africa

TPAC Technology Programme Accreditation Committee

TPQEC Technology Programme Quali cations and Examinations Committee

TUT Tshwane University of Technology

UCT University of Cape Town

UK United Kingdom

UKZN University of KwaZulu Natal

VA Voluntary Association

VC Vice-Chancellor

WA Washington Accord

WSU Walter Sisulu University
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SECTION 1
REVIEW
REGULATION OF THE ENGINEERING 
PROFESSION IN SOUTH AFRICA

PRESIDENT’S REVIEW  

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
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Ensuring that South Africa enjoys all the bene ts of a strong, competent, growing, sustainable 

and representative engineering profession, able to provide all the expertise necessary for the 

socio-economic needs of the country and to exert a positive in uence in South Africa.

Creating circumstances where society is con dent the South African engineering profession is 
able to carry out necessary functions for the socio-economic growth in the country. 

ECSA achieves it mission through:

• Setting and monitoring of standards to international norms;

• Certifying and ensuring the competence of individuals through registration;

• Ensuring quality of engineering education through accreditation;

• Regulating professional conduct; 

• Growing the profession in quantity and quality in partnership with stakeholders. 
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The Engineering Council of South Africa (ECSA) is a statutory 
body established in terms of the Engineering Profession Act, 
2000 (Act No. 46 of 2000) (EPA). This Act superceded the Acts 
of 1990 and 1968 and progressively extended ECSA’s scope 
beyond the original purpose, namely to regulate Professional 
Engineers. ECSA and its predecessor have thus regulated 
engineering practice for more than forty years.

ECSA exists as a regulatory body for the profession of 
engineering because while engineering activity is essential 
and bene cial to society and the economy, substantial risks 
to health, safety and environment accompany engineering 
activity must be managed by competent professionals. In 
addition, engineering services must be of high quality in the 
interests of economy and waste avoidance. 

With these objectives in mind, the EPA requires and empowers 

ECSA to perform the following functions: 

• Establish an engineering standards generating body  

(ESGB) and develop standards for engineering education 

and professional competency 

• Visit education providers to evaluate engineering 

programmes and accredit this programmes that meet the 

educational requirements toward registration in each of the 

categories

• Register persons in professional categories who 

demonstrate competency against the standards for the 

categories

• Evaluate educational qualifications not already accredited 

or recognised 
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• Register persons who meet educational requirements in 

candidate categories

• Establish specified categories of registration to meet 

specific health and safety licencing requirements and 

register persons in these categories 

• Require registered persons to renew registration at intervals 

and under conditions that the council prescribes 

• Enter into international agreements for the recognition of 

educational programmes and registration

• Develop and maintain a code of conduct, supported where 

necessary by codes of practice

• Investigate complaints of improper conduct against 

registered persons and conduct enquiries and impose 

sanctions as each case requires 

• Annually publish Guideline Scope of Services and Tarrif of 

Fees 

• Recognise Voluntary Associations (VAs) 

• Recommend to the Council for the Built Environment (CBE) 

ECSA’s identification of the type of engineering work which 

may be performed by persons registered in any category. 

In addition, ECSA is empowered to advise government and 
other parties and to take necessary steps to protect the public 
interest, health and safety, improve standards of engineering 
services, create awareness of the need to protect the 
environment and conduct research.

Professional Regula�on of engineering in South Africa dates from the Professional Engineers’ Act 
1968 (Act 81 of 1968) that provided for the registra�on of Professional Engineers. The Engineering 
Profession Act, 1990 (Act No 114 of 1990) expanded registra�on to engineering technologists, 
engineering technicians and cer� cated engineers. The EPA established ECSA in its present 
form and gave professional status to Engineering Technologists, Engineering Technicians and 
Cer� cated Engineers

Section 1
Regulation of the Engineering

 Profession in South  Africa 
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2011 can arguably be considered as the watershed year for the 
role of the Engineering Council of South Africa in in uencing 
the profession positively, as had been its undertaking in its 
Four Year Strategic Plan in 2009, shortly after the inception 
of the new Council. We had identi ed areas of transformation 
and instead of charging headlong into what the anecdotal 
symptoms were, we embarked on several research projects 
so that we could better understand the underlying causes and 
address them directly.

Whilst the in uence of a failed Outcomes Based Education 
system was evident to all, including some of its original 
supporters, it is not known yet what opportunity has been 
lost for many young people who may have been capable of 
enduring the rigours of tertiary education to ll the gap that 
will be left by the retirement of ageing professional engineering 
practitioners. 

Recognising that students intake at various tertiary institutions 
might have been on the basis of questionable matric results, 
in the short-sighted quest to re ect quantity and not quality, 
ECSA has, instead of only looking backwards, pursued 
opportunities to understand the challenges currently facing 
students at tertiary education level and selected programmes 
which it would support to enhance the throughput possibilities, 
rather than simply accept the previous 25% drop-out rates as 
a norm. 

This focus went a step further by resuscitating its up to 
now dormant, Engenius Programme which is designed to 
encourage high school learners to develop an interest in Maths 
and Science, the two most important subjects for a career in 
Engineering. This programme also equipped teachers with 
tools to assist in this learning process. 

Furthermore, instead of simply being reactive about the 
conversion rates of graduates to registered professionals, 
we have used information from the research done on the 
Candidacy Phase and in conjunction with practitioners who 
are experienced in driving mentorship programmes, made 
a concerted effort to encourage industry to honour its 
Commitment and Undertaking (C & U) that it has with ECSA, 
by not leaving the mentoring process to chance but to invest in 
resources for the future. 

Finally, we have invested in a study focusing on race and 
gender transformation, one of the legacy issues which continue 
to plague the profession and it will be the challenge of this 
Council in its remaining term as well as that of future Councils, 
to embark on a constructive journey to make the stigma of the 
exclusive legacy of the profession, a distant memory.

On the international front, in keeping with the recognition of 
our engineering prowess and ability to design and construct 
the airports, the stadiums and road networks for the 2010 
World Cup, South Africa, through the Engineering Council 
of South Africa was elected to Chair the Committee on 
Engineering Capacity Building for the next four years at the 
World Federation of Engineering Organisations’ General 
Assembly. 

Consistent with the conservatism of many engineering 
practitioners and engineering organisations, who do not stand 
on hilltops and boast about what they do to make a difference 
in society, this Organisation has a member base running into 
several millions through its ninety country membership base 
and has relationships with UNESCO, WTO and OECD to name 
but a few. 

Section 1
President’s Review
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We assumed this role in September 2011, taking over from 
the USA who had successfully hosted this Committee over 
the past eight years. Coupled to this role, we have begun 
forging a relationship with UNESCO and are in the process 
of exploring a mechanism for collaboration between ECSA, 
DST and UNESCO on various initiatives related to Engineering 
Capacity Building across the African continent as we view 
this to be a key ingredient required for the successful and 
sustainable development of the North–South Corridor, a key 
responsibility assumed by our Government as part of its African 
Union undertakings. 

Furthermore we are proud to acknowledge the two 
prominent members of ECSA Committees who were elected 
to Chair International Engineering Organisations such as the 
Engineering Technologists Mobility Forum and the Washington 
Accord.

On the local front, we welcomed the new Minister of Public 
Works, Minister T.W. Nxesi, the third Minister to assume of ce 
in the third year of our Council term. ECSA used the soonest 
opportunity to express its commitment to supporting the 
Ministry in all matters related to Engineering and the Build 
Environment. Though we have made much strides in establishing 
positive relationships with various National Ministries, such as 
the DEHT, the DST, Agencies of the DT responsible for product 
standards, DIRCO and the Public Protector, we have admittedly 
and sadly so, enjoyed modest success in doing the same with 
the DPW and the CBE, possibly due to perpetuated historical 
misperceptions about ECSA. We continue though to persevere 
in building and strengthening this relationship. On the issue 
of Identi cation of Work, I am happy to share with you the 
fact that the new Chair of the IDoW Committee at the CBE, a 
non-built environment practitioner, has committed to resolving 

the impasse which has for so long delayed the nalisation and 
promulgation of the IDoW Regulations. 

Registrations, Investigations and Accreditation, the core 
business of ECSA have also not been ignored in the 
transformation process. We have to date registered over 
30 000 professionals across the spectrum of Engineers, 
Technologists, Technicians and Certi cated Engineers. All of 
our local educational institutions have had their engineering 
programmes accredited to date and we are satis ed with the 
overall maintenance of the standard which has produced the 
quality of engineering practitioners which has earned our local 
profession the good reputation that it enjoys across the World. 
We have also accredited institutions in neighbouring Countries 
such as Namibia and have already been approached to 
consider the same for other SADC Countries. 

In closing, I would like to extend my utmost gratitude to the 
many Council Members, Committee Members, Voluntary 
Associations and Industry Associations for their continued 
support and it is in the true spirit of Ubuntu, that we are happy 
to acknowledge, that “ECSA is, because You are”.  Finally, in 
order to ensure that there are no critical omissions in this review, 
I would like to acknowledge the hard work and commitment of 
the ECSA CEO, his Executive, as well as the unseen men and 
women at the ECSA Of ces, understandably still striving for 
perfection, who form the heart of the organisation and drive 
the many processes which require the ef cient and professional 
administration that is expected by our Registrants, our various 
Committees, Industry, Government and ultimately the Public. 

C.J. CAMPBELL Pr Eng. PRESIDENT

PRESIDENT’S REVIEW 1SECTION 
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Section 1
CEO’s Report

ALIGNING THE ORGANISATION TO THE 
STRATEGY 

2011 was an extraordinary year of great change and challenge 
for the Engineering Council of South Africa. I am pleased to 
be able to report that decisive measures were put in place to 
enable ECSA to deal with these transformations. 

REPOSITIONING OF ECSA

Council’s decision to restructure the organisation in 2010, in 
order to effect alignment between the organisation structure 
and the new strategic plan, was implemented during 2011.

The restructured organisation, comprising three executive 
positions (Statutory, Strategic, and Corporate Services), put 
ECSA in a position to effectively deliver on its broadened 
mandate as outlined in the strategic plan adopted by Council 
in March 2010. ECSA is now a more focused and performance 
orientated Council.

The statutory functions of standard setting, accreditation of 
engineering programmes, registration of candidates and 
professionals, and the enforcement of a code of conduct for 
registered engineering practitioners are now being done with 
increased cost and technological ef ciency. Projects aimed at 
improving ef ciency of key statutory processes are detailed in 
this report.

2011 witnessed a signi cant increase in ECSA’s involvement 
in and focus on strategic initiatives. These are aligned with 
Council’s repositioning of ECSA as an organisation relevant 
to the development of South Africa, willing and able to 
partner with Government in areas of priority skills and national 
imperatives.

The sustainability of a representative Engineering Profession is 
linked to the engineering graduate output from South African 

universities. In 2011, ECSA commissioned a study to determine 
the barriers to engineering students graduating from traditional 
South African universities.

The study report titled ‘Improving Throughput in the 
Engineering Bachelor’s Degree was presented to senior of cials 
in the Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET) in 
December 2011. Consequently, ECSA, in partnership with the 
DHET organised a National Engineering Education Workshop, 
with participation from government, higher education 
institutions, Industry, and Further Education and Training 
Colleges. The workshop resolutions and recommendations 
will be presented to the Minister of Higher Education with the 
goal of in uencing policy and practice in respect of engineering 
education.

In 2011 ECSA expanded its portfolio of strategic initiatives 
which are reported on in this report.

FINANCIAL POSITION

During the year under review ECSA appointed 
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC) as its external nancial 
auditors for a four year period, renewable annually.

ECSA along with PWC are responsible for ensuring that ECSA’s 
2011 annual nancial statements are prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IRFS) and that 
these nancial statements fairly presents the nancial results  
and state of affairs of ECSA at the end of 2011/2012 nancial 
year.

I am pleased to announce that the external audit report re ects 
that ECSA’s nances continue to be sound and prudently 
managed.
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TRANSITION OF THE ECSA COUNCIL

The Minister of Public Works, the National Society of Black 
Engineers (NSBE) and ECSA were party to a court order 
granted in December 2010 and reported on in the 2010/2011 
ECSA annual report.

I am pleased to report that ECSA met all the conditions 
speci ed by the said court order.

The Honourable Minister of Public Works, Minister T.W. Nxesi 
on 31 January 2012, appointed 42 of the 50 members of the 
fourth ECSA Council which became effective from 05 July 
2012. 

Consequently, during the reporting period the ground work for 
a transition to the fourth ECSA Council was completed.

TOWARDS GREATER DIVERSITY AND 
REPRESENTATION

Registration of engineering practitioners as professionals 
or candidates in the categories of engineer, technologist, 
technician, certi cated engineers, and speci ed categories is 
a key function of ECSA which is embedded in the Engineering 
Profession Act (No. 46 of 2000).

Tough economic times and periods of global uncertainty 
generally result in attrition in the numbers of registered 
engineering practitioners.

I am however pleased to report an increase of 2.5% in the 
ECSA register during 2011, to just under 40 000 (i.e. 38 981 
engineering practitioners registered with ECSA at end March 
2012).

However, the engineering profession has a long way to go to 
re ect the national race and gender demographics. It can be 
gleaned from a more detailed presentation of the registration 
statistics, included in later sections, that steady progress is 
being made towards the national statistics. However, ECSA may 
need a signi cant intervention if the ECSA register is to re ect 
the diversity of the population.

ENHANCING GOVERNANCE

ECSA’s governance systems and practices are continuously 
reviewed and re ned in line with best practice and 
recommendations of the King III Code of Corporate Practice 
and Conduct.

In 2011 Council approved the rationalisation of the Audit and 
Corporate Governance Committees into one committee (i.e. 
the Audit, Risk and Compliance (ARC) Committee).

Council, on recommendation from the Finance and Staff 
Committee, approved a review of all Finance, Human 
Resources, and Information Technology policies by consultants 
from PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC).

The review of the ECSA’s risk register, established in 2010, has 
now been institutionalised and reviewed by management in 
the reporting period. 

NATIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL ENGAGEMENT

I can report that ECSA has established new relationships 
and strengthened existing ones with various organisations 
and government departments in order to promote visibility, 
relevance and an enhanced understanding of the role and 
value of the engineering profession and Council.

The appointment of Minister T.W. Nxesi as Minister of Public 
Works was welcomed by ECSA and offers an opportunity for 
ECSA to build a positive and mutually bene cial relationship 
which is in the best interest of the engineering profession and 
South Africa.

ECSA is committed to strengthening its relationship with the 
Council for the Built Environment and we have recorded much 
progress in this regard during 2011.

The government is a key stakeholder in ECSA’s business. I am 
pleased to advise we have recorded successful interactions 
with a wide range of public sector institutions and government 
departments including: 

• South African Bureau of Standards 

• The Public Protector 

• National Planning Commission 

• Department of Higher Education and Training 

• Department of Science and Technology

• Department of Economic Development 

• Department of Co-operative Governance and Traditional 

Affairs 

CEO’S REPORT 1SECTION 
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•  Ministry of Rural Development and Land Reform.

ECSA’s strengthened relationship with government departments 
has promoted the engineering profession as a credible partner 
to provide expert advice on national matters requiring 
engineering input.

During 2011, ECSA strengthened its relationship with a number 
of its Southern African neighbours. We concluded a formal 
MoU with the Engineering Council of Zimbabwe and agreed 
to collaborate on mutually bene cial initiatives including 
accreditation of engineering programmes and registration of 
professionals.

In September 2011 ECSA, on invitation from the Engineering 
Council of Namibia conducted a mid-term accreditation of 
engineering programmes at both the University of Namibia 
and the Polytechnic of Namibia. Steady progress towards 
meeting the accreditation criteria of the Washington Accord 
programmes has been recorded.

UNITING THE PROFESSION

The Engineering Professions Act makes provision for ECSA to 
recognise Voluntary Associations which promote technical and 
associated interests of its members.

ECSA’s list of recognised Voluntary Associations, which is 
presented in this report, comprises forty four associations. 
ECSA works collaboratively with the Voluntary Associations 
whose members serve on one or more of the many ECSA 
committees.

The Presidents’ Forum meeting affords the opportunity for 
ECSA and the Voluntary Associations to meet formally on a 
biannual basis and to share information on matters relevant to 
the profession.

ECSA’s close links with the Voluntary Associations places it in 
a pivotal position to unite and promote the profession and its 
engineering contribution to South Africa.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to record my appreciation for the support ECSA received 
from the former Minister, Gwen Mahlangu-Nkabinde and her 
successor the Honourable Minister of Public Works, T.W. Nxesi.

I am pleased to report that ECSA is committed to building a 
close working relationship with the Department of Public Works 
and the Council for the Built Environment (CBE).

ECSA’s core activities including standards setting, accreditation 
of engineering programmes at universities, processing of 
registration applications including the evaluations of foreign 
quali cations and investigating of complaints against registered 
engineering professionals are conducted by hundreds of 
volunteers. Without the participation of these volunteers in 
ECSA’s many activities ECSA would not be able to ful l its 
legislative mandate.

I wish to record my deep gratitude to the many volunteers who 
make huge personal and nancial sacri ces to promote the 
interests of our great profession.

ECSA’s repositioning has resulted in it working collaboratively 
with a range of non-traditional partners including various 
national government departments, higher education 
institutions, and SETAs. I wish to record my appreciation to our 
partners who have joined us to work towards positioning ECSA 
as a willing and capable partner to Government.

To my colleagues, who are responsible for the administrative 
functions of ECSA, I wish to express my gratitude and 
appreciation for your dedication to the task and support 
provided to me during 2011.

DR OSWALD “OSSIE” FRANKS Pr. Eng
Chief Executive Of cer
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The nancial year ending 31 March 2011 saw ECSA focus its 
efforts in two broad areas in order to discharge its mandate.

Firstly, there were a number of initiatives aimed at improving 
the operational ef ciency and effectiveness of our business 
processes and systems related to delivery of our core functions 
of standard setting, accreditation, quali cation evaluation and 
investigation of complaints against persons.  These various 
initiatives are reported on in detail in the operational reports 
which follow.

Secondly, this report contains information pertinent to various 
strategic initiatives which were adopted in line with Council’s 
strategic plan formulated in November 2009.  The strategic 
direction adopted by Council sort to, amongst others, bring 
about a more diverse and representative body of registered 
engineering professionals.  Additionally, Council approved a set 
of strategic initiatives which would ensure that the engineering 
profession in South Africa remains relevant to the national 
socio-economic development agenda.

These strategic initiatives, which Council endorsed on 
recommendation from its newly established Strategic Advisory 
Committee, included projects related to the engineering 
skills pipeline, the challenges experienced by candidates in 
gaining appropriate work experience required for professional 
registration, the challenges of registering foreign engineering 
practitioners who practicing in South Africa, and determining 
the value proposition of registration as a professional with 
ECSA.

These strategic projects, along with the work of the 
Transformation Task Team, are reported on in this review.

Furthermore, the performance, i.e. the extent to which 
the business goals were accomplished, is comprehensively 
reported in this review.

Finances

Council is responsible for ensuring that the Annual Report, 
which includes the annual nancial Statements, fairly presents 
the state of affairs of ECSA, its business and its nancial results, 
at the end of the nancial year.

In so doing, ECSA ensures that the nancial statements are 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).

The nancial statements set out in this report were approved 

SECTION 2
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
ECSA COUNCIL

ACTIVITIES OF ECSA COUNCIL

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF CONTRIBUTIONS 
FROM VOLUNTEERS

COMMITMENT TO SOUND CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

ECSA COMMITTEES

ECSA MANAGEMENT AND STAFF PROFILE

RISK MANAGEMENT

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COUNCIL AND 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS
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4. Governance

Table 1: ECSA Council as at 31 March 2012

persons from all levels of government/state, and 10 persons 
representing the public interest.

The Minister of Public Works appoints the Council, for a four 
year term.

Council Members as at 31 March 2012 as shown in table 1 
below

REVIEW1 SECTION

Section 3(1)(a) - Registered Persons

Mr C J Campbell Pr Eng – President
Prof T Majozi Pr Eng  - Vice President

Mr S A S Amod Pr Eng
Mr D Argyrakis Pr Tech Eng/ Reg Eng
Ms R A Botha Pr Techni Eng
Prof J A Cruise Pr Eng
Mr J W Cunnington Pr Cert Eng
Mr K Greenwood Reg LMI
Mr R A Harker Pr Eng
Mr A J Hay Pr Eng
Ms E S Jakuszko Pr Eng
Ms J Janjic Pr Eng
Mr G H Jansen van Rensburg Pr Eng
Prof E P Kearsley Pr Eng
Mr M Kibido Pr Eng
Dr A Lawless Pr Eng

Mr H E Makwarela Pr Eng
Mr M M Maliba Pr Tech eng
Ms P Mangakane Pr Techni Eng
Mr T N Maphumulo Pr Eng
Dr E N Mbuli Pr Eng
Mr I S Mckechnie Pr Eng
Mr K C Mistry Pr Eng
Mr P S Moncur Pr Techni Eng
Mr P D Naidoo Pr Eng
Mr C M Norden Pr Cert Eng
Mr B P O’Connor Pr Eng, Pr Cert Eng
Mr V P Padayachee Pr Tech Eng, Pr Cert Eng
Ms M Padayachee-Saman Pr Eng

Mr N Smuts Pr Eng

Section 3(1)(b) State

Mr P J Joubert Pr Eng

Mr P J Madondo Pr Eng

Ms F P Makhubu

Mr M G Marsden Pr Eng

Mr M A Ngcobo Pr Techni Eng, Pr Tech Eng

Mr L S Nolo Pr Eng

Mr K O’Jageer

Mr A M Peters Pr Eng

Mr A T van Coller Pr Eng

Mr M Zondi

Section 3(1)(c) – Public

Mr N Alli

Mr H Bengu

Mr Y Brijmohan Pr Eng

Mr C T Camane

Ms M M Leshabane

Mr T C Madikane Pr Eng

Adv K G Mapotse

Ms D R Mkhize

Mr J Phiri Pr Eng

Ms B G Sudano

4. GOVERNANCE 

4.1 ECSA COUNCIL

The ECSA Council is constituted in terms of section 3 
of the EPA and consists of 30 registered persons, ten 

Section 2
Governance Structure
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The race and gender pro le of the composition of the third 
ECSA Council, which was appointed with effect from 25 August 
2009, is shown in table 2 below.  

This table furthermore presents the pro le of the two prior 
Councils and it is evident that with the appointment of each 
successive Council the race pro le has made progress towards 
being more diverse and representative.

Table 2: Race and Gender Pro le of Council 1, 2 & 3

Council 
No.

Year of 
appointment Race Gender

White Black African Coloured Indian Male Female

1 2001 28 22 15 3 4 39 11

2 2005 25 25 13 4 8 39 11

3 2009 20 30 19 2 9 39 11

Figure 1: Race Pro le of Council 1, 2 & 3

Figure 2: Gender Pro le of Council 1, 2 & 3

4.2 ACTIVITIES OF ECSA COUNCIL

During the year under review the ECSA Council met four 
times.  All members of the ECSA Council are non-executive 
and independent.

In addition to the members of Council, meetings of the ECSA 
Council are attended by the CEO, the executives and all 
managers.  The CEO, executives and relevant managers also 
attend various Committee meetings.

4.3 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF CONTRIBUTIONS 
FROM VOLUNTEERS

Volunteers are drawn from the engineering voluntary 
associations and other bodies, who serve on committees, act 
as evaluators and reviewers in the registration process, serve on 
accreditation teams to evaluate quali cations, and contribute 
their time and expertise to assist ECSA in performing its wide 
range of functions.

Without this contribution from volunteers, ECSA will not be 
able to give effect to its legislative mandate.

ECSA is deeply indebted to nearly 494 volunteers who 
contributed in various ways during the year under review.

Table 3 Scale of ECSA’s operations: In the past year ECSA processed:

4927  -  applications for registration

237    -  programme accreditation evaluations at 16      
universities and universities of technology

464   -   foreign quali cation evaluations

50     -   complaints of professional misconduct to resolution

160   -   telephone help desk queries per day on average

4.4 COMMITMENT TO SOUND CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

The management structure of ECSA is different from that of a 
commercial or private enterprise.  However, ECSA is committed 
to principles of transparency, integrity and accountability 
as re ected in the King Code of Corporate Practices and 
Conduct.

ECSA is systematically and consistently enhancing the 
governance of its affairs and processes.  Progress in this regard 
is monitored by the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee.

GOVERNANCE 2SECTION SECTION 
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Internal Audit

ECSA has historically, due to the nature and size of the staff 
complement, not established an in-house internal audit 
capability.

A review of the organisation structure suggested that the 
organisation has evolved to a position where it is appropriate 
to establish an internal audit function for ECSA.

Council, in the year under review, approved the recommendation 
for ECSA to develop internal audit capacity.

4.5 ECSA COMMITTEES

The Council appoints an Executive Committee (EXCO) that 
has de ned powers to act between Council meetings.  The 

GOVERNANCE2SECTION 

JOB TITLE NAME M F W B A C I

Chief Executive Of cer Dr Oswald Franks √ √ √

Executive , Statutory Functions Dr Faroon Goolam √ √ √

Executive , Strategic Services Mr Edgar Sabela √ √ √

Manager, Registration Ms Neggie Ndlovu √ √ √

Manager, Education Ms Samantha Naidoo √ √ √

Manager Human Resources Mr Sidney  Badenhorst √ √

Manager, Finance Mr Gerard Schekkerman √ √

Manager, Legal Services Adv Pieter Fourie √ √

Manager, Marketing and Corporate 
Communications Ms Phindiwe Nkosi √ √ √

Manager, Information  and Business 
Processes Ms Nosintu Manqoyi √ √ √

Senior Manager, Of ce of CEO Ms Rina Marais √ √

Consultant, Registration and CPD Mr Johan  Pienaar √ √

Specialist Prof Hu Hanrahan √ √

Consultant, Marketing and Corporate 
Communications Dr Nozizwe Chinkanda √ √ √

Table 4: ECSA Management Pro le

Chairpersons of seven core ECSA committees serve on the 
Executive Committee, while the deputy Chairs of these core 
committees serve as alternate EXCO members.

Council establishes a number of standing committees with 
de ned functions as listed in Annexure A of page 82

An organogram of ECSA’s Committees appears as Annexure A 
on page 82 Committee membership is drawn from Council and 
by nomination from the engineering voluntary associations, 
academia and agencies relevant to the Engineering Profession.

4.6 ECSA MANAGEMENT AND STAFF PROFILE

ECSA’s Executive and Management are as follows:
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Table 5: Staff Pro le as at 31 March 2012

CATEGORY BLACK WHITE

Management 7 5

Staff 36 10

Total 43 15

GRAND TOTAL 58

Figure 3: Staff Pro le as at 31 March 2012

Table 6: Staff Pro le : Race and Gender Breakdown as at 31 March 
2012

MALE FEMALE TOTAL
A C I W A C I W
4 1 2 4 23 4 6 14 58

Figure 4: Staff Pro le : Race and Gender Breakdown as at 31 March 
2012

Table 7: Staff Pro le: Breakdown of Black Staff as at 31 March 2012

CATEGORY AFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN

Management 4 1 2

Staff 25 6 5

Total 29 7 7

GRAND TOTAL 43

Figure 5: Staff Pro le: Breakdown of Black Staff as at 31 March 2012

GOVERNANCE 2SECTION 
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4.7 RISK MANAGEMENT

In 2010/11, the Corporate Governance Committee identi ed 
the need for ECSA to formally establish a risk register to 
mitigate against identi ed risks.

During the year under review, Deloitte conducted a workshop to 
train ECSA’s management team in aspects of Risk Management 
and the methodology for determining the organisations risk 
pro le.

ECSA has developed a risk register for its operational risk and 
this will enable the regular review of risks and evaluation of the 
effectiveness of strategies adopted to mitigate such risks.

Compilation of the strategic risk pro le of ECSA remains a high 
priority work in progress.

Figure 6: ECSA Organogram

The management of ECSA’s risk register and effectiveness of 
strategies in addressing risk will resort under internal audit 
function.

4.8 CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COUNCIL AND 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

In support of Council’s commitment to sound corporate 
governance, Council approved that all members of Council 
and ECSA’s Committees would be required to commit to, by 
signature, ECSA Code of Conduct for Council and Committee 
members.

Council has led this initiative by example and all Councillors 
have completed the relevant undertaking.

GOVERNANCE2SECTION 
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SECTION 3
STATUTORY FUNCTIONS
REGISTRATION 
EDUCATION 
INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS
REGULATION OF ENGINEERING PRACTICE
STANDARDS AND PROCEDURES 
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Ms Neggie Ndlovu
Manager: 

Registration

Ms Samantha Naidoo
Manager: 
Education

Advocate Pieter Fourie
Manager: 

Legal Services

Dr Faroon Goolam
Executive: 

Statutory Functions

Section 3
Heads of Department
Statutory Functions
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5. REGISTRATION 

5.1 REGISTRATION STATISTICS

The accompanying Table 8 below provides registration details alongside demographics in the professional categories.

Table 8: Professional Category Registration Statistics

Professional Engineer
Total registrations New registrations Transfers from Candidates Cancellations Deregistrations

Total registered 15168 546 328 73 84

G
en

de
r Male 14691 482 276 72 78

Female 477 64 52 1 6

Ra
ce

Black 1007 156 103 9 1
White 13319 310 172 61 81
Indian 697 64 45 2 2
Coloured 145 16 8 1 0

Professional Engineering Technologist

Total registered 4066 370 154 17 18

G
en

de
r Male 3933 328 132 15 18

Female 133 42 22 2 0

  R
ac

e

Black 615 159 78 4 0
White 2957 156 45 11 17
Indian 348 35 23 2 1
Coloured 146 20 8 0 0

Professional Certi cated Engineer

Total registered 1066 29 10 10 2

G
en

de
r Male 1063 28 9 10 2

Female 3 1 1 0 0

Ra
ce

Black 40 4 3 1 0
White 977 21 6 7 2
Indian 41 4 1 2 0
Coloured 8 0 0 0 0

Professional Engineering Technician

Total registered 3844 340 129 41 26

G
en

de
r Male 3474 274 102 40 26

Female 370 66 27 1 0

Ra
ce

Black 1339 251 103 23 0
White 2110 60 16 13 26
Indian 247 14 1 2 0
Coloured 148 15 9 3 0

Section 3
Statutory Functions
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Figure 7: Professional Registration Statistics by Category

Figure 8: Professional Registration Statistics by Gender

REGISTRATION 3SECTION 3SECTION 
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Candidate registrations are given in Table 9 below

Table 9: Candidate Category Registration Statistics

Candidate Engineer
Total registrations Number of Candidates 

registered 
(3 Years and less)

Number of 
Candidates 
registered 
(4 - 5 Years )

Number of 
Candidates 
registered 
(Over 6 Years)

Total registered 6594 3753 1092 1749

G
en

de
r Male 5358 3004 830 1524

Female 1236 749 262 225

 R
ac

e

Black 1895 1200 385 310
White 3569 1860 532 1177
Indian 993 584 163 246
Coloured 137 109 12 16

Candidate Engineering Technologist

Total registered 2487 1689 435 363

G
en

de
r Male 2003 1365 339 299

Female 484 324 96 64

   
   

 R
ac

e

Black 1633 1190 269 174
White 558 326 122 110
Indian 230 123 40 67
Coloured 66 50 4 12

Candidate Certi cated Engineer

Total registered 263 131 49 83

G
en

de
r Male 258 126 49 83

Female 5 5 0 0

   
   

Ra
ce

Black 99 47 12 17
White 130 70 31 52
Indian 24 8 4 12
Coloured 10 6 2 2

Candidate Engineering Technician

Total registered 4019 2954 576 489

G
en

de
r Male 2975 2157 426 392

Female 1044 797 150 97

Ra
ce

Black 3191 2473 424 294
White 509 288 112 109
Indian 247 136 35 76
Coloured 72 57 5 10

REGISTRATION3SECTION 3SECTION 
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5.2 REGISTRATION TRENDS

Over the past nancial year, ECSA succeeded in maintaining 
a growth trajectory in registration numbers. ECSA is proud 
to report the highest registration records in its history. While 
registration is still voluntary, this increasing trend in registration 
numbers can be attributed to greater awareness by registered 
persons regarding the bene ts of registration. The database of 
registered persons increased from 34 664 on 31 March 2011 to 
38 578 on 31 March 2012, an increase of 11% by year end.

The signi cant increase in registration numbers can be attributed 
to broader awareness amongst employers of engineering staff 
and the public at large. This bodes well with ECSA’s objective of 
providing the country with a body of engineering professionals 
whose competence will result in professionalism and a high 
quality service in the provision and execution of engineering 
activities in South Africa. The 16,6% increase in registration of 
candidate engineers from 5 652 on 31 March 2011 to 6 594 on 
31 March 2012, is an indication of the effectiveness of ECSA’s 
registration campaigns throughout the country to graduating 

Registered Lifting 
Machinery Inspectors 

Registered 
Lift Inspectors

Total registered 885 155

G
en

de
r Male 883 154

Female 2 1

   
 R

ac
e

Black 56 6

White 759 128

Indian 49 14

Coloured 21 7

Figure 9: Candidate Category Registration Statistics by Category

Figure 10: Candidate Category Registration Statistics by Gender

Figure 11: Speci ed Category Registration Statistics 

Table 10: Speci ed Category Registration Statistics 

REGISTRATION 3SECTION 3SECTION 
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students, big corporate organisations, small and medium-sized 
companies employing engineering practitioners.

As far as the transformation of registered persons with ECSA 
is concerned, good progress has been made. The number 
of black (black African, Colored, Indian and Chinese) persons 
registered on ECSA’s database rose by 26.5%, from 10 704 or 
30,8% on 1 April 2011 to 13 543 or 35% of total registrations, 
on 31 March 2012.  

5.3 CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT (CPD)

The rst ve-year cycle of the CPD system was completed 
during the reporting period. Relatively good co-operation 
was received from registered persons due for renewal of their 
registration. A response rate of 70% was recorded.  

5.4 REGISTRATION STATISTICS

Table 11: Registration Statistics

REGISTRATION STATISTICS

Professional Engineers A 15168

Candidate Engineers B 6594

Professional Engineering Technologists C 4066

Candidate Engineering Technologists D 2487

Professional Certi cated Engineers E 1066

Candidate Certi cated Engineers F 263

Professional Engineering Technician G 3844

Candidate Engineering Technician H 4019

Registered Lift inspectors * I 155

Registered Lifting Machinery Inspectors * J 885

Registered Engineering Technicians ** K -838

Registered Engineering Technicians 
(Master) ** L -411

Registered Medical Equipment Maintainers* M 5

EMF and ETMF Registered Persons N 26

Total 38578

Note:   * Speci ed Category

** Categories de ned in the Engineering Profession Act of 
South Africa 1990, No. 114 of 1990, now closed (included 
in Professional Engineering Technician gure of 3844)

REGISTRATION 3SECTION 3SECTION 
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Figure 12: Registration Statistics

REGISTRATION 3SECTION 3SECTION 
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6 EDUCATION

As a statutory body established in terms of the Engineering 
Profession Act, No. 46 of 2000 as well as being governed by 
the National Quali cation Framework Act, No. 67 of 2008, 
one of the key functions of ECSA’s mandate is to evaluate and 
maintain the quality and standard of engineering programmes 
offered at public higher education providers throughout the 
country. This key function falls under the auspices of ECSA’s 
Education Department. These programmes ultimately meet 
the educational requirements for registration in any of the 
appropriate categories. As the custodian of quality assurance in 
engineering higher education, ECSA also plays an integral role 
in respect of policy matters relating to engineering education.

The second key function of the Education Department at 
ECSA is the assessment of educational quali cations for 
purposes of registration, which are not accredited by ECSA 
nor recognized under an international educational agreement. 
Such quali cations are evaluated for substantial equivalence to 
a South African accredited quali cation. 

Developments related to each of the key functions of the 
Education Department are described below.

6.1 ACCREDITATION

The purpose of accreditation is to evaluate and, subsequently, 
maintain the quality and standard of engineering programmes 
offered at public South African higher education providers. The 
237 programmes accredited by ECSA may be disaggregated 
as follows:

• 52 BEng/BSc(Eng) programmes in 8 universities

• 98 BTech Tech programmes in 10 universities

• 87 National Diploma programmes in 10 universities.

Lists of accredited BEng-type, BTech and National Diploma 
Programmes are published and regularly updated on the ECSA 
website.

ECSA successfully ful lled its scheduled timetable of 
accreditation visits to higher education providers. Visits 
conducted during the reporting period are shown in the table 
below.

Accreditation activities during the reporting period:
Institution Type of Visit Number of 

Programmes
Period

North-West University Regular visit 5 4 & 5 May 2011
Centurion Academy Follow-up visit 1 10 May 2011
Durban University of Technology Follow-up visit 3 30 & 31 May 2011
Walter Sisulu University Follow-up visit 3 1 & 2 Aug 2011
University of Johannesburg: Engineering Science Regular visit 4 18 & 19 Aug 2011
University of Johannesburg: Technology Regular visit 17 18 & 19 Aug 2011
University of KwaZulu Natal Follow-up visit 1 1 & 2 Sept 2011
Vaal University of Technology Follow-up visit 4 1 & 2 Sept 2011
Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University Regular visit 8 October 2011
University of Namibia Provisional visit 8 19 & 20 Sept 2011 
Polytechnic of Namibia Provisional visit 5 22 & 23 Sept 2011
Tshwane University of Technology Follow-up visit 1 19 & 20 Oct 2011
Centurion Academy Follow-up visit 1 8 & 9 Nov 2011
Cape Peninsula University of Technology Follow-up visit 1 19 Jan 2012
UNISA Regular visit 8 21 & 22 Feb 2012
Vaal University of Technology Regular visit 17 26 – 29 Mar 2012

Table  12: Accreditation activities during the reporting period

Section 3
Statutory Functions
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As noted in the 2010/2011 Annual Report, as a full signatory 

of the Washington Accord, South Africa was under review by 

the Washington Accord in 2010. The purpose of the review 

was to establish whether the South African BEng/BSc(Eng) 

quali cations met international benchmark standards. In 

September 2010, a team of international experts, from three 

other signatory countries, observed ECSA’s accreditation 

processes at the University of Cape Town and the University of 

KwaZulu Natal. The review report was duly submitted and was 

considered at the International Engineering Alliance meeting in 

Taipei, in June 2011. It was resolved at the meeting that South 

Africa would have its Washington Accord recognition extended 

for a further six years.

6.2 ACCREDITATION TRAINING

ECSA’s accreditation process is guided by a sound accreditation 

policy that has been benchmarked against international criteria 

and best practice. As such, periodic reviews are conducted 

under the international agreements in order to audit the ECSA 

policies and processes. 

ECSA has a database of seasoned programme evaluators which 

comprises members from both academia as well as industry. 

Together with a well documented training manual, ECSA hosts 

accreditation training workshops to further entrench the use 

and application of the accreditation policy. 

In addition, there is academic representation on the 

accreditation committees and evaluation panels and ongoing 

liaison with the Deans of Engineering through the ECSA Deans’ 

Committee (recently renamed as the ECSA Deans’ Advisory 

Committee). 

In an effort to align accreditation processes, the Technology 

Programme Accreditation Committee (TPAC), together with 

the assistance of Prof Hu Hanrahan, conducted a two-day 

workshop on the Generic Accreditation Policy. The Generic 

Policy was aimed at aligning the accreditation process for 

both the engineering science programmes and the technology 

programmes to a single policy.

The following accreditation workshops were held in the 

reporting period:

Table 13: Accreditation Policy

Accreditation policy type Date

Engineering Programmes (EPAC) 15 March 2011

Technology Programmes (TPAC) 29 November 2011

Generic Policy 21 & 22 June 2011

The training workshops were hosted for new and existing 
ECSA programme evaluators as well as for the staff from the 
providers that had forthcoming visits. 

6.3  RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

ECSA’s strategic objectives, especially those of the Education 

Department, requires close working relationships with key 

stakeholders. The Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) 

signed by Council on Higher Education (CHE) and ECSA in 

November 2006 lapsed and discussions are underway to 

formulate a new MoU.   In practical terms, the effect of the MoU 

is that ECSA undertakes its accreditation process of engineering 

programmes in terms of its obligation under the Engineering 

Profession Act. ECSA communicates its accreditation decisions 

to the CHE, thus obviating the need for duplicate programme 

accreditation visits by the CHE.  

6.4 QUALIFICATION EVALUATION

Subsequent to the implementation of the educational 
quali cation evaluation policy, the demand for quali cation 
evaluation has grown rapidly. A total of 464 applications with 
foreign quali cations were received for evaluation during the 
reporting period.  Twenty ve applicants were recognized as 
holding Washington Accord quali cations and were eligible 
to apply directly for registration. The remaining applications 
were considered by the Engineering Programme Quali cation 
Evaluation Committee (EP-QEC) or Technology Programme 
Quali cation Evaluation Committee (TP-QEC) as appropriate. 
The following is a summary of the applications received and 
the outcomes of the evaluations.

EDUCATION SECTION 3SECTION 
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Figure 13:  Application status

EDUCATION

Table 14: Application status

Application status/decision Considered by EP-
QEC

Forwarded to TP-QEC Total

New applications allocated to each QEC 464 148 464
Washington Accord recognition 25 0 25
Recognised as substantially equivalent to the type 
of quali cation shown

BEng:    86 BTech:                               44
ND:                                  38
Alternate

195

Not recognised / File closed (no response) 59 11 70
Refused Candidate Engineer 0 0 0
Information outstanding / Awaiting Interview 92 28 120
Applications in process at 31 March 2012  54 54

Route:               27

3SECTION 

EP-QEC: Engineering Programme Quali cations & Examinations Committee.

TP-QEC: Technology Programme Quali cations & Examinations Committee.

3SECTION 
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7. INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS

ECSA’s international obligations fall under the mandate of the 
International Affairs Committee (IAC). The IAC was another 
high impact committee under the Education department for 
the reporting period. 

ECSA continues to be a signatory to the following international 
agreements:

Washington Accord: mutual recognition of educational quali cation 
for education of engineers;

Sydney Accord: mutual recognition of educational quali cation for 
education of engineering technologists;

Dublin Accord: mutual recognition of educational quali cation 
for education of engineering technicians;

Engineers Mobility Forum: promoting the international 
recognition of registration of professional engineers;

Engineering Technologists Mobility Forum: promoting 
the international recognition of registration of professional 
engineering technologists or equivalent;

Mutual Exemption Agreement with the Institution of Civil 
Engineers (ICE) (UK): providing an accelerated procedure for 
Chartered Engineers (registered via the ICE) to gain Profession 
Engineer Registration with ECSA and the converse.

Mutual Exemption Agreement with Engineers Ireland: 
providing an accelerated procedure for Chartered Engineers 
(registered with Engineers Ireland) to gain Professional 
Engineer Registration with ECSA and the converse.

In addion , ECSA had been involved in a number of international 
initiatives, listed below:

• ECSA submitted its bid to host the World Federation 
of Engineering Organisations (WFEO) Committee on 
Engineering Capacity Building (CECB) from 2012. The 
decision of the host country was taken at the WFEO 

General Assembly, held in September 2011. ECSA was 
advised that it would host the CECB from 2012.

• ECSA was advised by Engineers Australia that they had 
been contacted by the Tertiary Education Commission 
(TEC) of Mauritius, a body similar to SA’s HEQC indicating 
that they were interested in engaging with a Washington 
Accord (WA) signatory. Engineers Australia was of the view 
that ECSA would be a more appropriate WA signatory to 
engage with Mauritius and as such liaised with ECSA. The 
ECSA CEO responded to Engineers Australia advising that 
ECSA was willing to be of assistance. ECSA is awaiting 
further correspondence from the TEC.

• A Memorandum of Co-operation was signed on 21 
October 2011, between ECSA and the Engineering Council 
of Zimbabwe on areas of mutual interest. 

• ECSA has ful lled the following international obligations:

Ø The continuous assessment of Singapore for 
Washington Accord recognition – 2008 until 2013:  Prof 
Beatrys Lacquet.

Ø Turkey: application for signatory status to the 
Washington Accord 2011: Mr Rod Harker (Review 
Chair).

Ø USA: application for signatory status to the Dublin 
Accord 2011: Mr Faried Allie (Review Chair).

• The successful outcome of the Washington Accord 
monitoring visit to South Africa, that took place in 2011 is 
elaborated on page 28 in 6.1 

Section 3
Statutory Functions
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Section 3
Statutory Functions

8. REGULATION  OF ENGINEERING 
PRACTICE

Key Function:

The Engineering Profession Act requires 
ECSA to draw up and administer a code of 
conduct for registered persons. All registered 
persons are required to comply with the 
code of conduct. The code of conduct may,
at ECSA’s discretion, be supplemented by one 
or more codes of practice. Any complaint of 
misconduct by a registered person must be 
investigated by ECSA.

Investigations are carried out through 
the Investigating Committee. Should it 
be necessary to prefer charges against an 
individual, a disciplinary tribunal is held.

The ECSA Legal Department is responsible for 
functions related to professional practice.

8.1 CODE OF CONDUCT

Key Function:

The ECSA Code of Conduct, last revised in 
2006, is a proven de nition of the conduct 
expected of registered persons and serves 
as the standard for all investigation and 
disciplinary proceedings.

A review of the Code of Conduct is currently 
underway.

8.2 INVESTIGATION OF COMPLAINTS

Key Function

An important focus of the Act is aimed at 
promoting the safety, health and interest 
of the public. The latter is affected by the 

engineering work and professional conduct 
of persons registered with ECSA. The principal 
function of the Legal Department is to 
investigate complaints of improper conduct 
or incidents regarding engineering related 
activities by registered professionals.

The Legal Department investigates such 
cases upon receiving a formal complaint 
or becoming aware of major engineering 
related incidents. Where prima facie evidence 
indicates that a registered person transgressed 
the Code of Conduct, Council will prefer 
charges and a disciplinary process follows.

The investigating of complaints and subsequent action against 
the registered person involved is focused on the enhancement 
of public safety, the image of the profession and professional 
standards. A comparative summary of investigations over the 
past four years is provided in the table below.

Table 15:  ECSA investigations: comparative table

ECSA INVESTIGATIONS: COMPARATIVE TABLE 

Number of Matters 2011-
2012

2010-
2011

2009-
2010

2008-
2009

New complaints 
received for 
investigation

54 57 62 56

Complaints carried 
over from the 
previous reporting 
period

43 46 67 72

Complaints nalised 
after investigation 50 74 72 32

Disciplinary hearings 
concluded 15 22 21 14

Peer counseling 
meetings held 11 16 11 12

Advisory letters issued 5 8 0 0



THE ENGINEERING COUNCIL OF SOUTH AFRICA           ANNUAL REPORT 2011/1232

8.3 REVISED METHOD OF ENQUIRY

ECSA revised its Method of Inquiry and published it as Board 
Notice 171 of 2011 on 4 November 2011, under the title 
“Rules for Inquiry into Alleged Improper Conduct:  Engineering 
Profession Act, 2000”.  The main focus of the revised rules is 
to expedite and streamline the processes of investigations and 
hearings.  The practices of peer counseling and advisory letters 
were formalised.

8.4 ADVISORY NOTES AND CASE STUDIES

Three advisory notes to the public were nalized and published 
on ECSA’s website. They are listed below:

1. The role, responsibilities and conduct of persons registered 
with ECSA, appointed for small building works.

2.  A guide to ECSA’s disciplinary procedures.

3. The advisability and legal requirements for employing 
registered professionals to perform engineering services”.

Council approved a protocol by which advisory notes and 
alerts may be developed in future. Advisory notes (and alerts) 
aim to advise the public, registered persons and stakeholders 
on issues related to engineering practice and the profession.  
Five case studies, based on disciplinary hearings concluded 
and focusing on lessons learned are in a draft form.

8.5 PUBLICATION OF GUIDELINE FEES

Key Function:

In terms of Section 34 of the Engineering 
Profession Act 46 of 2000, the Engineering 
Council of South Africa (ECSA), in 
consultation with the voluntary associations, 
representatives of service providers and clients 
in the public and private sector, is required to 
publish Guideline Scope of Services and Tariff 
of Fees.

Figure 14:  ECSA investigations: comparative table

REGULATION OF ENGINEERING PRACTICE 3SECTION 3SECTION 
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Section 34(2) of the Act requires ECSA to 
review the Guideline Scope of Services and 
Tariff of Fees on an annual basis and to 
publish them in the Government Gazette.

The Guideline Scope of Services and Tari  of Fees 
are applicable from the rst of January of the 
year un�l the 31st December of that year. ECSA 
is currently in discussion with the Compe��on 
Commission to ensure that the publica�on of 
Guideline fees is compliant with the Compe��on 
Commission Act, 89  of 1998.

8.6 RECOGNITION OF VOLUNTARY 
ASSOCIATIONS

A number of Voluntary Associations re-applied for recognition 
with ECSA.

Voluntary Associations are required to maintain their 
compliance with ECSA statutory requirements during their 
period of recognition.  An audit is being completed in this 
regard.

Currently ECSA has 44 recognized Voluntary Associations.

Recognized Voluntary Associations may recommend members 
for council and are consulted on issues such as guideline fees 
and identi cation of work.

8.7 RULES PUBLISHED

Section 36(2) of the Engineering Profession Act 46 of 2000, 
states that before the council makes any rule, it must publish a 
draft of the proposed rule in the Gazette together with a notice 
calling on interested persons to comment in writing within a 
period stated in the notice, but the period may not be less than 
30 days from the date of publication of the notice.

Rules on the procedures for the nomination of Council 
members have been published and more rules are currently 
being published.

8.8 IDENTIFICATION OF ENGINEERING WORK 

The Engineering Profession Act, 46 of 2000 (the EPA) and the 
Council for the Built Environment Act, 43 of 2000 (CBE Act), 
regulate the Identi cation of Engineering Work. ECSA has in 
terms of Section 46 of the EPA submitted its recommendations 

to the CBE regarding the type of work to be performed by 
registered persons. The CBE is to, in terms of Section 20 of 
the CBE Act, identify the scope of work for every category 
of registered persons. This has not taken place during the 
reporting period.

REGULATION OF ENGINEERING PRACTICESECTION 3SECTION 
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9. STANDARDS AND PROCEDURES
The Engineering Council of South Africa must, in terms of the 
Act, determine the standards of competence for professional 
registration and the educational outcomes that applicants 
for candidate and professional registration must ful l.  This 
standards generation function is carried out through the 
Engineering Standards Generating Body (ESGB).    In addition 
to the development of standards for the Engineering Council’s 
use, the ESGB also facilitates the development of engineering 
related standards for other bodies and serves as the channel 
for registering these on the National Quali cations Framework 
(NQF).

9.1 QUALIFICATIONS DEVELOPED AND 
AWAITING REGISTRATION

With the changes in the quali cations development landscape 
brought in by the new NQF Act of 2008, the Council on Higher 
Education became the responsible structure for receiving and 
critiquing all new quali cations before being sent to SAQA for 
registration.  These changes therefore brought in some process 
delays for all quali cations submitted for registration since the 
promulgation of the new NQF Act.

The following ESGB-generated quali cations still awaited 
registration on the NQF:

• The 420 credit Bachelor of Engineering Technology at NQF 
Level 7

• The 360 credit Diploma in Engineering at NQF Level 6

• The 140 credit Advanced Certi cate in Engineering at NQF 
Level 6

• The 140 credit Bachelor of Engineering Technology 
(Honours) at NQF Level 8

• The 140 credit Advanced Diploma in Engineering at NQF 
Level 7

• The 140 credit Higher Certi cate in Engineering at NQF 
Level 5

However, after further engagements with the Council on 
Higher Education (CHE), consensus was reached that these 
quali cations no longer required formal registration with 
SAQA. Instead, after approval by the CHE, they should be 
placed on the ECSA website as the educational standards 
meeting the desired criterion for accreditation and registration 
with the Engineering Council.

9.2 SPECIFIED CATEGORIES

The Standards and Procedures department supports the 
development of speci ed categories for the Engineering 
Council.  Developmental work for the new speci ed category, 
that is, the Fire Protection Systems Inspectors was nalized and 
approved by Council. 

Section 3
Statutory Functions
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Section 4
Strategic Services

10 STRATEGIC ADVISORY COMMITTEES 
STRATEGIC INITIATIVES

The Strategic Advisory Committee, a committee charged with 

the responsibility to advise Council on how to strategically 

reposition ECSA to make it relevant to South Africa, successfully 

implemented the following strategic initiatives as approved by 

Council in the previous reporting year:

10.1 THE CANDIDACY PHASE

The Candidacy Phase Working Group is responsible for 

identifying, launching and overseeing initiatives that will lead to 

the following broad outcomes:

• A sustainable increase in the number of candidates enrolled 

with ECSA

• To sustainably reduce the average duration of the candidacy 

phase towards the minimum prescribed period

• To create a culture of respect for and recognition of the 

value of Professional Registration.

Six task teams have been set up to develop and ensure good 

practice is adopted in terms of workplace training towards 

professional registration.  The teams are:-

Funding and Recognition of the Candidacy Phase

This team is responsible for investigating mechanisms 

of accessing funding for structured workplace training. 

Discussions have been entered into with various SETAs and 

the Quali cations Council for Trades and Occupations (QCTO) 

with respect to developing curricula that will lead to possible 

quali cations to ensure best practice in workplace training. 

Once in place it will be possible to access funding from SETAs 

and other skills funds.

During the course of the year, agreement was reached on the 

requirements of the QTCO quali cations, with the possibility of 

registering quali cations associated with the nine disciplines of 

engineering.  This will ensure funding will be made available to 

companies who embark on training against such quali cations.

Implementation and Communication

It is intended that this team sensitises and supports the 

Voluntary Associations (VAs) to promote comprehensive 

workplace training and also promote structured training and 

the bene ts of registration through various forms and social 

networking.

Structure and Materials Development

This team is tasked to consider the most appropriate structure 

of workplace training and contribute towards the development 

of Discipline Speci c Training Guidelines (DSTGs) and the 

updating of Commitment and Undertaking(C&U).

Mentoring and Coaching

This team is tasked with researching mentoring and coaching 

best practice and encouraging VAs to make mentors available 

through their networks.

Research

This team is tasked with understanding the pipeline, including 

university and university of technology throughputs, the 

conversion of graduates to candidates, candidates to registered 

professionals and the retention of professionals within the 

industry.  Findings which have emerged from this work have 

shown huge potential for enhancing workplace training and 

offering support for those in the eld wishing to register.

Public Relations

This team is tasked with publishing the bene ts of registration 

to candidates, organisations and registered people who can 

act as mentors and supervisors, to ensure that all in the 
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industry work towards developing a competent cadre of young 

professionals to take over from the aging workforce.

10.2 REGISTRATION OF FOREIGN ENGINEERS 
STUDY

This report concerns the registration of foreign engineering 

professionals in South Africa. In examining the processes and 

timescales associated with registration, it considers both the 

statutory responsibilities of the Engineering Council and the 

perceptions of a small but signi cant cross-section of industry 

representatives. 

The report nds that ECSA’s requirements regarding recognition 

of quali cations and registration of engineers do not appear to 

be especially onerous when compared with other jurisdictions 

internationally. It notes also that while recognition and 

registration are important concerns for foreign professionals 

wishing to practice in this country, they are not the only, and 

not necessarily the most important issues affecting their ability 

to do so. International research has found that other concerns, 

such as visas, taxation and family issues, are also factors 

impacting upon international mobility and the willingness of 

engineering professionals to work abroad. 

Nonetheless, recognition of quali cations and in some 

cases registration with ECSA are matters of concern to 

South African employers. In this regard, the report nds that 

reducing the median time required for the processing of 

applications might remove the need for a separate, ‘fast-track’ 

registration mechanism, thereby avoiding some of the negative 

consequences that a ‘preferential’ process could entail, as well 

as rendering unnecessary the introduction of a new and 

perhaps legally uncertain category of ‘temporary’ registration. 

ECSA is evaluating the need to convene a workshop with 

HR professionals and immigration practitioners from key 

companies. This could also serve the purpose of helping ECSA 

to better understand the perceptions of companies regarding 

ECSA’s policies and processes, to get a better grasp of the 

scale of the ‘problem’ and the impact on companies and to 

ask for stakeholder input on possible measures to improve 

communication and industry support. 

10.3 TRANSFORMATION PROJECT

A decision was taken by the ECSA Council to undertake a 

transformation study. The study commenced in the middle of 

July 2011. 

The main scope and terms of reference for this study are listed 

below: 

• Review ECSA’s transformation efforts in totality (i.e. all 

current transformation initiatives. 

• Consult with all relevant stakeholders as to their 

perceptions about areas in which the engineering 

profession needs to be transformed. 

• Determine, in consultation with the CEO, and 

recommend appropriate strategies in response to speci c 

transformational challenges or initiatives. 

The study found that whilst ECSA had already commenced 

the transformation process, it still needed to develop a clear 

transformation agenda/strategy that will be understood by all 

key stakeholders.

In this regard ECSA will, in the next year, be developing a 

comprehensive transformation strategy based on the ndings 

of this study.

10.4 THROUGHPUT STUDY

The purpose of the throughput study was to propose 

a framework and rm recommendations for improving 

throughputs in Engineering Bachelor’s degrees, which will be 

supported by the engineering profession and universities and 

incorporated, where appropriate, into ECSA’s accreditation of 

institutions.

On completion the study has identi ed seven key ‘levers of 

change,’ locating these within a systemic framework which 

emphasises not only the national dimensions of the challenge, 

but its multi-dimensional, multi-actor and, importantly, its 

institutional aspects.

In summary, the seven levers of change are as follows:

• Schooling: improving the ‘talent pipeline’ from schools 

into university.
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• Student selection: selecting the right students, by 

critically reviewing current selection approaches, in both 

mainstream engineering and foundational programmes, 

etc.

• Student support services: closing the gaps in student 

support services, both at the institutional level and from 

the side of bursary funders and student nancial aid 

agencies. 

• Curriculum: ensuring that the engineering curriculum 

remains relevant and responsive to the demands of 

professional practice in a changing world, and exible 

enough to cater successfully for a diverse student intake. 

• Teaching and Learning: strengthening the core mission 

of teaching and learning, inter alia by holding institutions 

accountable for teaching and learning outcomes, at key 

stages in the degree, inter alia.

• Staf ng: ensuring that mainstream engineering as well as 

foundational programmes are appropriately staffed, with a 

suf cient foundation of teaching expertise and professional 

development support available to lecturers. 

• Funding: ensuring that engineering education is 

suf ciently well-funded to meet the current and future 

demand for engineers, maintain quality and standards, 

and meet the needs of a diverse student intake. 

ECSA has engaged the Department of Higher Education and 

Training (DHET) to discuss the above ndings of the Throughput 

Study. As a consequence ECSA, in partnership with the DHET, 

will be hosting an Education Summit in October 2012, with all 

the key stakeholders interested in Engineering Skills Pipeline. 

The summit will develop strategies aimed at improving the 

engineering throughput.

10.5 WORLD FEDERATION OF ENGINEERING 
ORGANISATIONS (WFEO) - COMMITTEE ON 
ENGINEERING CAPACITY BUILDING (CECB)

In April 2011 ECSA, as a member of the World Federation of 

Engineering Organisations, a global engineering organisation 

with some 90 member countries totalling several million 

individual members, submitted a bid to host the Committee 

on Engineering Capacity Building.  This followed the eight year 

period where the USA hosted this Committee.  

Three other organisations, from Peru, Kuwait and Greece 

submitted competing bids to host the same Committee. In 

September 2011 at the WFEO General Assembly in Geneva, 

South Africa through ECSA succeeded in winning this bid and 

effectively assumed the responsibility of hosting this Committee 

over the next four years. 

ECSA President, Mr. Christopher Campbell (Pr. Eng) was elected 

as Chairman with the Secretariat to be headed by Mr Thomas 

McKune (Pr.Tech Eng). In assuming this role the Committee set 

out to determine a plan of action for the short, medium and 

long term together with the requisite budget requirements. 

It has to date achieved the consolidation of its list of Committee 

Members, both local and international and held scheduled 

meetings as well as teleconferences, where it was impractical to 

hold in-person meetings.  Notable progress from the various 

activities related to this Committee include, but are not limited 

to:  

• Making the Capacity Guideline 2010 available in hard copy 

when required, as well as obtaining an Executive Summary 

of the book translated into different languages. To date a 

Mandarin version of this has been completed.

• Development of the web-based Compendium as an 

evolution of the 2010 Capacity Building Guideline. Once 

this facility is active, the committee will be able to grow 

participation in their activities by encouraging electronic 

input from various global organisations which may be 

viewed and utilised where such information is relevant.

• Fostering co-operation between UNESCO and the CECB 

with respect to any of the Africa Engineering Initiatives 

Programmes which it may be considering. The Director 

at UNESCO has already endorsed such co-operation and 

it is expected that a person dedicated to this process, will 

be announced by UNESCO, formally becoming a member 

of the Committee. In the interim the Committee has been 

liaising with an Engineer in the UNESCO Of ce who is 

involved in these programmes as well.  

• Participating in the team that is being established to 

undertake a project to establish the ‘Numbers & Needs’ 

in the area of Engineering Capacity in the SADC Regions 

of Africa. The current participants in the process include 

ECSA, WFEO – CECB, UNESCO and The South African 
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National Department of Science and Technology. This 

project was rst mooted a few years ago through Mr. 

Tony Marjoram during his term at UNESCO, but was not 

developed further. 

It would appear through the recent UNESCO Africa Initiative, 

that there is a strong possibility of this project proceeding 

with a view to establishing a pilot framework which may be 

used for the remainder of the continent. This initiative could 

be a catalyst for promoting overall co-operation between the 

various Regional bodies which collectively make up the African 

Federation of Engineering Organisations (AFEO);

The pro le of ECSA and South African Engineering prowess has 

indeed been promoted through hosting this Committee.  It is 

anticipated there will be interaction in the medium term with 

other global organisations such as WTO and OECD, as there is 

a general interest in activities that relate to building sustainable 

engineering capacity not only in developing countries but 

also in developed countries faced with an aging population of 

engineering practitioners.

11. CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS 
AND STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS

In accordance with ECSA’s strategic objectives to grow its 

reputation and image and be more relevant to stakeholders, 

great emphasis was maintained on communication and 

stakeholder relations. Great effort was also made to promote 

ECSA’s mandate.   Relationship building and stakeholder 

contact was also maintained in both governmental and non-

governmental spheres. 

ECSA forged strategic ties with the following government 

departments:

• Department of Public Works

• Department of Science and Technology

• Department of Economic Development

• Department of Higher Education and Training

• Presidential Infrastructure Coordination Commission 

(PICC).

Stakeholder forums with voluntary associations, industry, 

higher education institutions and young graduates were 

further cemented. ECSA for the rst time hosted the captains of 

industry roundtable sessions. These sessions were established 

to develop a strategy to partner with the national government 

in the delivery of the national infrastructure projects.

Other stakeholder opportunities included ECSA’s participation 

as an exhibitor at the Institute of Municipal Engineering (IMESA) 

conference in October 2011 and at the Consulting Engineers 

South Africa (CESA) conference in November 2011. 

22 September 2011 heralded a signi cant milestone for ECSA 

when it hosted the rst ever Inaugural Engineering Summit. 

This event was used to educate society about engineering, 

the role of ECSA and the importance of registering with ECSA. 

Public Works Minister, Honourable Gwen Nkabinde Mahlangu 

delivered the keynote address. ECSA received extensive media 

coverage from Business Report, Engineering news, New Age 

and other trade publications.  

Another landmark event was the hosting by ECSA of the 

Bloodhound Super-Sonic Car in its of ces in Bruma in 

November 2011. Media attending the event included UNCUT 

and Media 24. News of the Bloodhound Super-Sonic Car 

coming to South Africa received extensive media coverage. 

Advertisements and editorials were placed in relevant trade 

publications highlighting achievements. ECSA continued to 

inform internal and external stakeholders on topical issues 

and latest developments through its publications; namely the 

Electronic Bulletin (E-Bulletin), the internal staff newsletter and 

the Young Professionals newsletter.

Electronic Bulletin:

The E-Bulletin is a newsletter targeted at ECSA registered 

persons to keep them enlightened and abreast of latest 

news and issues concerning the industry. The e-Bulletin is 

distributed to registered persons and made available on the 

ECSA website.

Internal Staff Newsletter:

The “ExpreSA” is a monthly internal news platform, a vehicle 

for the ECSA staff to keep each other continually updated.  

Content is generated by members of the staff.
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Young Professionals Newsletter:

The young professional newsletter is a platform to showcase 

what young people are doing out there to promote the 

engineering profession to the youth. Newsletters are published 

and distributed to Young Professionals and also made available 

on the ECSA website.

Public Relations and Media Highlights:

Communications company Fleishman Hillard South Africa was 

retained to assist with the exposure of ECSA to the public, 

media and the wider engineering profession. The strategic 

positioning of ECSA as a leader in the Engineering profession 

continued. The Engenius initiative was aggressively pro led, 

resulting in Engineering News covering the Engenius campaign 

on its front cover and as a lead story.

Awareness efforts centred on ECSA’s role and commitment to 

address:

• The engineering skills shortage 

• Transformation of the engineering industry and profession 

• Infrastructure development for SA’s socio-economic 

growth

• Challenges facing education and consequent development 

of an engineering skills pipeline

Skills Portal, IT-Online, Engineering News, Sowetan Business, 

The New Age, and Summit TV are just some of the media 

where ECSA maintained a regular media presence.

Communication, Information & Marketing (CIM) 
Committee:

In this nancial year the Communication, Information & 

Marketing (CIM) committee continued its efforts in driving 

the ECSA marketing and communication strategy. Under 

the guidance and leadership of the CIM committee essential 

communication tools were developed. These include operating 

procedures for ECSA, a media communication policy and a 

corporate identity manual. 

The CIM Committee also ensured that Professional Registration 

is treated as a vital focus area at the Engineering Summit in 

order to educate the society about ECSA and the importance 

of registering with ECSA.

12. PRESIDENTS’ FORUM

The continuation of the presidents’ forum is an 

indication that ECSA remains dedicated to maintaining 

sound relations with key industry stakeholders. 

The Presidents’ Forum is aimed at facilitating dialogue amongst 

Voluntary Associations (VAs). This forum has increased the 

channels of communication between ECSA and the VAs for 

discussing areas of mutual interest and concern to all parties. 

The forum’s objective is to create a platform for sharing best 

practice information and ideas for the advancement of the 

engineering profession. VA accreditation, VA representation on 

PAC’s and promotion of the engineering profession remain an 

integral part of the Presidents Forum agenda.

13. ENGENIUS

The drive to promote the engineering profession to learners 

at high schools was maintained through the Engenius 

programme. In response to several government and media 

reports highlighting the shortage of engineering skills in the 

country, ECSA and its strategic partners made a decision to 

revive the Engenius campaign. The Engenius campaign is a 

career guidance campaign designed to encourage learners 

to consider a career in engineering. The main focus is on 

previously disadvantaged learners and young girls.  

During this nancial year Engenius moved from concept to 

action. The focus was to develop the brand, provide support 

and share the products as identi ed in a needs analysis. A 

training programme and outreach workshop kits for role 

models were developed to ensure that role models are 

effective when communicating the Engenius message and 

approach to learners. The workshops enable participants to 

engage in ‘engineering activity’ with real engineering projects 

and professionals.

Some of the communications tools developed include the 

Engenius website (www.engenius.org.za), newsletters, an 

educational DVD, a calendar of partner events, brochures, 

banners, standardised information for publications, promotional 

gifts, advertisement for magazines, partner participation at 

events, as well as workshop presentations.

To date more than 50 000 people were reached via face to 
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face interaction. Learners, teachers, facilitators and young 

professionals bene ted from this campaign on the ground, 

with more than two million viewers reached through mass 

media. Looking ahead into next year, the following initiatives 

have been identi ed following a gap analysis of partner 

organisations’ current programmes:

• Developing kits in all engineering disciplines

• Reaching out to primary schools

• Communicating through TV programmes

Although funding remains a challenge, it is expected that as the 

Engenius programme is implemented, more stakeholders will 

understand their role in the campaign and will subsequently 

fund the programme.
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Vacant*
Executive:

Support Services

Mr Gerard Schekkerman
Manager: 
Finance

Mr Sydney Badenhorst
Manager: 

Human Resources

Ms Nosintu Manqoyi
Manager: 

Information and
 Business Processes

*Footnote: As at 31 March 2012 the Support Services Executive position had not been lled
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13. FINANCE

The Finance department report is presented in the 2011/12 
nancial statements on pages 48 to 81.

14. HUMAN RESOURCES

Change Management 

With recent structural changes within ECSA, the need arose for 
the business to embark on a structured approach to manage 
change, whilst at the same time ensuring a smooth transition 
on all changes affecting the business. 

A change management forum comprising nominated members 
of staff and management has been introduced. The role of the 
forum is to drive implementation of certain action items in line 
with change management initiatives.

Performance and Reward

Building a performance driven culture within ECSA is an 
ongoing initiative. The rst implementation phase of the 
performance management system was successfully concluded 
for review period ending 2011 -2012. Following this initiative, 
a comprehensive staff training programme is being introduced 
in order to ful l short term and long term career aspirations 
of staff.

2012 /2013 performance agreements are currently under 
development.

Operational Effectiveness and Ef ciency

In order to provide ef cient support to the business, 
implementation of various VIP payroll modules is in the process 
of being implemented.  Phase one, i.e., implementation of the 
payroll module has been successfully launched. Phase two will 
entail implementation of the leave administration module and 
employee self service.

This system will provide effective business tools in terms of 
accurate reporting and streamlined, paperless processing of 
data.

Job Grading

Job grading and review of job descriptions has been launched. 
This project is currently under review in order to align current 
business needs. 

15. INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY AND 
COMMUNICATION

Replacement of the existing IT Platform

The need to develop an online, work ow based registration 
system to support the registration process was identi ed in 
the previous nancial year. During the year under review, a 
comprehensive business process analysis was conducted and 
an IT system speci cation that is consistent with the registration 
policies was developed. 

A phased approach to progressively implement the registration 
system was adopted. A tender for the implementation of 
the registration system was advertised. A service provider 
to implement the rst phase was appointed and the 
implementation has started. The rst phase supports the 
registration of Candidate and Professional Engineers and 
Evaluation of Quali cations. 

The next phases extend the system to accommodate other 
registration categories and support all the other aspects of 
registration such as renewal of registration which is related 
to Continued Professional Development (CPD), cancellations,  
and changes in fee structure.

As part of the initiative to progressively replace the existing 
IT platform, the need to implement a new nancial system, 
a document management system and a human resource 
management system was identi ed. 

Section 5
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Upgrade of Server Infrastructure Supporting 
Internal Operations 

In an effort to create a secure and robust IT infrastructure, 
and to be aligned with ECSA’s depreciation method for IT 
equipment, the upgrade of the existing IT infrastructure was 
completed. Cluster and storage virtualisation technologies 
were implemented to allow for optimisation and ef cient 
management of IT resources. The database, exchange and 
domain server infrastructure were successfully upgraded and 
data was migrated resulting in better data management and 
high performance infrastructure.

The Development of the new Website

The need to develop a website that can meet the demands of 
the increasing number of registered persons and other ECSA 
website visitors was identi ed in the previous nancial year. To 
date a tender for the implementation of the new website was 
advertised. A service provider has been appointed to develop 
the website.

 SUPPORT SERVICES 5SECTION 5SECTION 
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Governance of ECSA has been enhanced by measures including the adoption of a Code of Conduct for Council, the 
establishment of a risk register, a high level review of ECSA’s Corporate Governance against principles and best practice 
recommendations of the King Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct, and the approval of an internal audit function. 
ECSA, through the efforts of its Corporate Governance Committee, continuously works towards enhancing and re ning its 
governance processes. 

Attendance of ECSA’s main committees by its Council members is re ected on the next pages. 

The names of the committees, where abbreviations are used, are:  

Reg.C Central Registration 

CG Corporate Governance  

EC Education Committee 

EPAC Engineering Programme Accreditation Committee 

ESGB Engineering Standards Generating Board 

FIST Finance and Staff Committee 

IAC International Affairs Committee 

IC Investigating Committee 

LMI Lifting Machinery Inspectors registration committee 

STRAT Strategy Committee 

TPAC Technology Programme Accreditation Committee 

TPQEC Technology Programme Quali cations and Examinations Committee 

CIM Communication, Information and Marketing Committee 

AC Audit Committee 

Section 6

Corporate Governance 



THE ENGINEERING COUNCIL OF SOUTH AFRICA           ANNUAL REPORT 2011/12 49

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 6SECTION 

Name Council Exco Cent.Reg CGRM EC EPAC ESGB FI & ST IAC IC LMI STRAT TPAC TPQEC

1. Mr CAMPBELL (President) CJ 4/4 3/3 4/4 4/4
2. Prof MAJOZI (Vice President) T 4/4 3/3 2/2 4/4
3. Mr ALLI N 4/4 2/3 4/4 -
4. Mr AMOD SAS 3/4 3/4
5. Mr ARGYRAKIS D 4/4 2/3 1/1 6/6
6. Mr BENGU H 3/4 4/4 6/6 3/4
7. Ms BOTHA RA 4/4 4/4
8. Mr BRIJMOHAN Y 4/4 3/4
9. Mr CAMANE CT 3/4 4/4 2/4
10.Dr CRUISE JA 4/4 3/4
11. Mr CUNNINGTON JW 2/4 4/4
12. Mr GREENWOOD K 3/4 10/10 5/7 0/7
13. Mr HARKER RA 4/4 4/4 2/2 2/2 4/4 4/4
14. Mr HAY AJ 4/4 3/3 4/4 4/4 4/4
15. Ms JAKUZSKO E 5/5 3/6 5/6
19. Prof  KEARSLEY EP 4/4 3/3 4/4 1/4
20. Mr KIBIDO M 4/4 3/4 3/4
21. Dr LAWLESS A 4/4 3/4 4/4
22. Ms LESHABANE MM 3/4 3/4
23. Mr MADIKANE TC 4/4 4/4
24. Mr MADONDO P 4/4
25. Ms MAKHUBU FP 4/4 3/3
26. Mr MAKWARELA HE 2/4
27. Mr MALIBA MM 1/4 3/4
28. Ms MANGAKANE P 4/4
29. Mr MAPHUMULO TN 3/4 3/3 6/6
30. Adv MAPOTSE KG 3/4 2/4
31. Mr MARSDEN MG 4/4 4/4
32. Dr MBULI RN 4/4
33. Mr McKECHNIE IS 4/4 4/4
34. Mr MISTRY KC 4/4 1/4
35. Ms MKHIZE DR 4/4 0/3 2/2 4/4
36. Mr MONCUR PS 4/4 1/1 10/10 4/4 3/4 5/7
37. Mr NAIDOO PD 4/4 2/4
38. Mr NGCOBO MA 3/4
39. Mr NOLO LS 4/4
40. Mr NORDEN CM 3/4 3/4
41. Mr O’CONNOR BP 4/4 0/2 1/1
42. Mr O’JAGEER K 4/4 2/4
43. Mr PADAYACHEE VP 3/4 3/3
44. Ms PADAYACHEE-SAMAN M 4/4
45. Mr PETERS AM 4/4 5/6
46. Mr PHIRI J 4/4
47. Mr SMUTS N 4/4 6/6 0/4
48. Ms SUDANO BG 4/4 4/4
49. Mr VAN COLLER AT 3/4
50. Mr ZONDI M 2/4



THE ENGINEERING COUNCIL OF SOUTH AFRICA           ANNUAL REPORT 2011/1250

6SECTION 

1. REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES

MAIN BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS

The Engineering Council of South Africa (ECSA) is established 
in terms of the Engineering Professions Act (No. 46 of 2000). 
The Act empowers ECSA to perform the following functions, 
in order to protect the health and safety of citizens and the 
environment from the risks associated with engineering work:

• Set standards for engineering education and professional 
competency;

• Accredit engineering education programmes, offered by 
public and private providers, that meet the educational 
requirements for registration in the various categories;

• Register persons in professional categories who demonstrate 
competency against the standards for the categories;

• Evaluate educational quali cations that are not already 
accredited or recognised;

• Register persons who meet educational requirements in 
candidate categories;

• Establish speci ed categories of registration to meet 
speci c health and safety licencing requirements and 
registered persons in these categories;

• Require registered persons to renew registration at intervals 
and under conditions that the council prescribes;

• Enter into international agreements for the recognition of 
educational programmes and registration;

• Develop and maintain a code of conduct, supported where 
necessary by codes of practice;

• Investigate complaints of improper conduct against 
registered persons and conduct enquiries and impose 
sanctions as each case requires;

• Annually publish guideline professional fees and scope of 
work;

• Recognise Voluntary associations (VA’s); and

Section 6
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• Recommend to the Council for the Built Environment (CBE), 
ECSA’s identi cation of the type of engineering work which 
may be performed by persons registered in any category.

The operating results and state of affairs of the company are 
fully set out in the attached nancial statements and do not in 
our opinion require any further comment.

2. GOING CONCERN

The nancial statements have been prepared on the basis of 
accounting policies applicable to a going concern.

This basis presumes that funds will be available to nance future 
operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of 
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in 
the ordinary course of business.

3. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The CEO is not aware of any matter or circumstance arising 
since the end of the nancial year that could have a material 
effect on the nancial statements.
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4. COUNCIL MEMBERS

The Council members of the organisation during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

4.1 Council Members as at 31 March 2012*

* The term of this Council ended on 5 July 2012

5. SECRETARY

The duties of a company secretary at ECSA are ful lled by the administrative staff. The Engineering Profession Act does not require 
ECSA to appoint a dedicated company secretary.

6. AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. will continue in of ce in accordance with the procurement policy.

DR OSWALD “OSSIE” FRANKS Pr. Eng MS NVB MAGUBANE
Chief Executive Of cer Chair of Audit Risk and Compliance Committee

Section 6
Audit, Risk and Compliance 

Committee Report 

4.2 Current Council Members 

Mr C V Gamede Pr Eng President
Mr A M Peters Pr Eng Vice-President

Ms H Anderson Pr Eng
Ms R A Botha Pr Techni Eng
Mr Y Brijmohan Pr Eng
Mr WSB Burger Pr Tech Eng
Mr LT Dhlamini
Mr P M Erasmus Pr Teg Ing; Pr Tegni Ing
Mr K Greenwood Reg.LMI
Mr M Gxamza  Pr Eng
Dr K I Jacobs Pr Techni Eng
Mr S S Jacobs Pr Eng
Mr M E Jele
Mr R E Jennings Pr Cert Eng
Prof B M Lacquet Pr Ing
Dr A Lawless Pr Eng
Mr O L Leburu Pr Tech Eng
Ms N V B Magubane  Pr Eng
Mr S  Makhetha Pr Eng
Ms P Mangakane Pr Techni Eng
Ms T P Maphumulo Pr Eng
Prof T Marwala Pr Eng
Mr L Mashile Pr Tech Eng
Prof M L Masu Pr Eng
Mr M A Ngcobo Pr Techni Eng Pr Tech Eng
Mr D N Matthee Pr Eng

Mr K C Mistry Pr Eng
Mr MMG Mofokeng
Mr R J Moloisane Pr Tech Eng
Dr M Mwaka Pr Eng
Mr NM Myataza  Pr Cert Eng
Dr Z T Mathe  Pr Eng
Ms T Nkambule  Pr Eng
Mr K K Nyangoni Pr Eng
Mrs M Padayachee-Saman Pr Eng
Mr R Patel
Mr B P Petlane  Pr Tech Eng
Ms T Phiri
Mrs A M Sassenberg  Pr Tech Eng
Dr A  Singh
Mr C M Soga  Pr Eng
Mr C P Stuurman Pr Tech Eng
Mr M Thunzi Pr Tegni Ing
Dr N Tutu
Mr N P  van den Berg  Pr Eng
Mr D J van Niekerk Pr Ing
Prof B J  Van Wyk  Pr Eng
Mr R T Vogt Pr Techni Eng
Mrs TM Zuma

* The term of this current Council commenced on 5 July 2012

Mr C J Campbell Pr Eng – President
Prof T Majozi Pr Eng  - Vice President

Mr S A S Amod Pr Eng
Mr D Argyrakis Pr Tech Eng/ Reg Eng
Ms R A Botha Pr Techni Eng
Prof J A Cruise Pr Eng
Mr J W Cunnington Pr Cert Eng
Mr K Greenwood Reg LMI
Mr R A Harker Pr Eng
Mr A J Hay Pr Eng
Ms E S Jakuszko Pr Eng
Ms J Janjic Pr Eng
Mr G H Jansen van Rensburg Pr Eng
Prof E P Kearsley Pr Eng
Mr M Kibido Pr Eng
Dr A Lawless Pr Eng
Mr H E Makwarela Pr Eng
Mr M M Maliba Pr Tech eng
Ms P Mangakane Pr Techni Eng
Mr T N Maphumulo Pr Eng
Dr E N Mbuli Pr Eng
Mr I S Mckechnie Pr Eng
Mr K C Mistry Pr Eng
Mr P S Moncur Pr Techni Eng
Mr P D Naidoo Pr Eng
Mr C M Norden Pr Cert Eng
Mr B P O’Connor Pr Eng, Pr Cert Eng
Mr V P Padayachee Pr Tech Eng, Pr Cert Eng
Mr M A Ngcobo Pr Techni Eng Pr Tech Eng

Ms M Padayachee-Saman Pr Eng
Mr N Smuts Pr Eng
Mr P J Joubert Pr Eng
Mr P J Madondo Pr Eng
Ms F P Makhubu
Mr M G Marsden Pr Eng
Mr L S Nolo Pr Eng
Mr K O’Jageer
Mr A M Peters Pr Eng
Mr A T van Coller Pr Eng
Mr M Zondi
Mr L S Nolo Pr Eng
Mr K O’Jageer
Mr A M Peters Pr Eng
Mr A T van Coller Pr Eng
Mr M Zondi
Mr N Alli
Mr H Bengu
Mr Y Brijmohan Pr Eng
Mr C T Camane
Ms M M Leshabane
Mr T C Madikane Pr Eng
Adv K G Mapotse
Ms D R Mkhize
Mr J Phiri Pr Eng
Ms B G Sudano
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Section 6
Council Responsibilities and 

Approval
The Council is required to maintain adequate accounting 
records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the 
nancial statements and related nancial information included 

in this report. It is the Council’s responsibility to ensure that 
the nancial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the 
company as at the end of the nancial year and the results of 
its operations and cash ows for the period then ended, in 
conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
The external auditors are engaged to express an independent 
opinion on the nancial statements.

The nancial statements are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and are based 
upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied 
and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates.

The Council acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible 
for the system of internal nancial control established by the 
company and places considerable importance on maintaining 
a strong control environment. To enable the Council to meet 
these responsibilities, the Council sets standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost 
effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation 
of responsibilities within a clearly de ned framework, effective 
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties 
to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are 
monitored throughout the Council and all employees are 
required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring 
the Council’s business is conducted in a manner that in all 
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of 
risk management in the council is on identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the 
council. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the 
council endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate 
infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are 
applied and managed within predetermined procedures and 
constraints.

The Council is of the opinion, based on the information and 
explanations given by management, that the system of internal 
control provides reasonable assurance that the nancial 
records may be relied on for the preparation of the nancial 
statements. However, any system of internal nancial control 
can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

The Council has reviewed the cash ow forecast for the year 
to 25 March 2013 and, in the light of this review and the 
current nancial position, it is satis ed that the council has or 
had access to adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently 
reviewing and reporting on the council’s nancial statements. 
The nancial statements have been examined by the council’s 
external auditors and their report is presented on page 53.

The nancial statements set out on pages 48 to 81, which have 
been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved 
by the Council on 21 September 2012 and were signed on its 
behalf by:

MR. CYRIL VUYANI GAMEDE, Pr. Eng 
President

DR OSWALD “OSSIE” FRANKS Pr. Eng
Chief Executive Of cer
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Section 6
Independent Auditors’ Report

TO ENGINEERING COUNCIL OF SOUTH AFRICA

We have audited the annual nancial statements of the 
Engineering Council of South Africa, which comprise the 
statement of nancial position as at 25 March 2012, and the 
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and 
cash ows for the year then ended, and a summary of signi cant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set 
out on pages 54 to 79.

COUNCIL’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The Council is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these nancial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such 
internal control as the Council may determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of nancial statements that are free 
from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these nancial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the nancial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the nancial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the nancial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the nancial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
suf cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the nancial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the nancial position of the Engineering 
Council of South Africa as at 25 March 2012, and its nancial 
performance and its cash ows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

OTHER MATTER

The supplementary information set out on pages 80 to 81 does 
not form part of the nancial statements and is presented as 
additional information. We have not audited this information 
and accordingly do not express an opinion thereon.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS INC.
DIRECTOR: MN GOVENDER
REGISTERED AUDITOR
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ASSETS

Non-current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 4&26 9,037,778 9,050,677 9,206,695

Other nancial assets 5&26 8,078,442 7,458,749 6,912,961

Retirement bene t asset 7&26 20,343,000 17,183,000 18,866,000

37,459,220 33,692,426 34,985,656

Current Assets

Trade and other receivables  8 4,171,253 3,029,224 2,943,880

Cash and cash equivalents 9 7,614,600 7,305,314 4,714,443

11,785,853 10,334,538 7,658,323

Total Assets 49,245,073 44,026,964 42,643,979

Reserves and Liabilities

Reserves

Reserves 5,685,688 5,182,864 4,696,774

Retained income 13,831,103 13,116,033 10,071,092

19,516,791 18,298,897 14,767,866

Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings 10 2,795,789 3,622,875 4,218,125

Retirement bene t obligation 7&26 19,024,000 15,981,000  17,783,000

21,819,789 19,603,875 22,001,125

Current Liabilities

Borrowings 10 724,670 549,625 504,000

Trade and other payables 11 7,183,823 5,574,567  5,370,988

7,908,493 6,124,192 5,874,988

Total Liabilities 29,728,282 25,728,067 27,876,113

Total Equity and Liabilities 49,245,073 44,026,964 42,643,979

2012 2011
Restated

2010
Restated

Notes R R R

Section 6

Statement of Financial Position
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Section 6
Statement of Comprehensive Income

Revenue 13 48,946,080 41,299,353

Other income 14 1,828,869 2,925,515

Operating expenses (50,868,602) (41,848,144)

Operating (loss) pro t (93,653) 2,376,724

Investment revenue 16 3,288,657  3,064,785

Finance costs 17 (1,718,934) (1,904,719)

Pro t for the year 1,476,070 3,536,790

Other comprehensive income:Available-for-sale nancial assets adjustments 502,824 506,090

Actuarial gains and losses on de ned bene t plans (761,000) (516,000)

Other comprehensive loss for the year net of taxation 21 (258,176) (9,910)

Total comprehensive income (loss) 1,217,894 3,526,880

2012 2011
Restated

Notes R R

The notes on pages 63 to 79 are an integral part of these nancial statements.
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Opening balance as 2,129,234 2,567,540 4,696,774 9,525,215 14,221,989
previously reported 
Adjustments

Change in accounting policy - - - 1,083,000 1,083,000

Prior year adjustments - - - (537,123) (537,123)

Balance at 26 March 2010 2,129,234 2,567,540 4,696,774 10,071,092 14,767,866
as restated

Changes in equity

Total comprehensive income 506,090 - 506,090 3,020,790 3,526,880
for the year

Transfer between reserves - (20,000)  (20,000) 20,000 -

Sundry adjustments - - - 4,151 4,151

Total changes 506,090 (20,000) 486,090  3,044,941 3,531,031

Balance at 26 March 2011 2,635,324 2,547,540 5,182,864 13,116,033 18,298,897

Changes in equity

Total comprehensive income 502,824 - 502,824 715,070 1,217,894
for the year

Total changes 502,824 - 502,824 715,070 1,217,894

Balance at 25 March 2012 3,138,148 2,547,540 5,685,688 13,831,103 19,516,791

Unrealised
fair value

adjustments

Funds
reserved for

future
expenses

Total
reserves

Retained
income

Total equity

R R R R R

Section 6

Statement of Changes in Equity
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Cash ows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 56,250,530 51,365,892

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (55,941,217)  (48,739,673)

Cash generated from operations 22 309,313 2,626,219

Interest income 3,288,657 3,064,785

Finance costs (1,718,934) (1,904,719)

Net cash from operating activities 1,879,036 3,786,285

Cash ows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4 (800,841)  (630,292)

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 4 - 24,201

Net movement in  nancial assets (116,869) (39,698)

Net cash from investing activities (917,710) (645,789)

Cash ows from nancing activities

Repayment of borrowings  (652,041)  (549,625)

Net cash from nancing activities  (652,041)  (549,625)

Total cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts movement for the year 309,285 2,590,871

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at the beginning of the year 7,305,314 4,714,443

Total cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at end of the year 9 7,614,599 7,305,314

2012 2011

Notes R R

Section 6
Statement of Cash Flows
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The nancial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards. The nancial 
statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, 
and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. 
They are presented in South African Rands.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous 
period.

1.1 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES 
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In preparing the nancial statements, management is required 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
represented in the nancial statements and related disclosures. 
Use of available information and the application of judgement 
is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the 
future could differ from these estimates which may be material 
to the nancial statements. Signi cant judgements include:

Available-for-sale nancial assets

The company follows the guidance of IAS 39 to determine 
when an available-for-sale nancial asset is impaired. This 
determination requires signi cant judgment. In making this 
judgment, the company evaluates, among other factors, the 
duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment 
is less than its cost; and the nancial health of and near-term 
business outlook for the investee, including factors such as 
industry and sector performance, changes in technology and 
operational and nancing cash ow.

1.2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when:

•  it is probable that future economic bene ts associated with 
the item will ow to the company; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct 
an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a 
replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an 
item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount 
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive 
income during the nancial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight 
line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated 
residual value.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation.

Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment on 
an annual basis.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have 
been assessed as follows:

Items Average useful life

Buildings 50 years
Furniture and xtures  6 years
Motor vehicles  5 years
Of ce equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Improvements to premises 10 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of 
each asset are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the 
end of each reporting period. If the expectations differ from 
previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in 
accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a 

Section 6

Accounting Policies
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cost that is signi cant in relation to the total cost of the item is 
depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in pro t 
or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another 
asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is included in pro t or loss 
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from 
the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is determined as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item. An 
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount.

1.3 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Classi cation

The company classi es nancial assets and nancial liabilities 
into the following categories:

• Loans and receivables

•  Available-for-sale nancial assets

Classi cation depends on the purpose for which the nancial 
instruments were obtained / incurred and takes place at initial 
recognition. Classi cation is re-assessed on an annual basis, 
which shall not be classi ed out of the fair value through pro t 
or loss category.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the 
company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments.

The company classi es nancial instruments, or their 
component parts, on initial recognition as a nancial asset, a 
nancial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the 

substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except 
for equity investments for which a fair value is not determinable, 
which are measured at cost and are classi ed as available-for-
sale nancial assets.

For nancial instruments which are not at fair value through 
pro t or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial 
measurement of the instrument.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated 
impairment losses.

Available-for-sale nancial assets are subsequently measured 
at fair value. This excludes equity investments for which a fair 
value is not determinable, which are measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in equity until the asset is disposed of or determined to 
be impaired. Interest on available-for-sale nancial assets 
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in 
pro t or loss as part of other income. Dividends received on 
available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in pro t 
or loss as part of other income when the company’s right to 
receive payment is established.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive 
cash ows from the investments have expired or have been 
transferred and the company has transferred substantially all 
risks and rewards of ownership.

Impairment of nancial assets

At each reporting date the company assesses all nancial 
assets, other than those at fair value through pro t or loss, to 
determine whether there is objective evidence that a nancial 
asset or group of nancial assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the company, signi cant nancial dif culties 
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
and default of payments are all considered indicators of 
impairment.

In the case of equity securities classi ed as available-for-sale, a 
signi cant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security 
below its cost is considered an indicator of impairment. If any 
such evidence exists for available-for-sale nancial assets, the 
cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the 
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acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss 
on that nancial asset previously recognised in pro t or loss - is 
removed from equity as a reclassi cation adjustment to other 
comprehensive income and recognised in pro t or loss.

Impairment losses are recognised in pro t or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the 
nancial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively 

to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, 
subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the 
nancial asset at the date that the impairment is reversed shall 

not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had 
the impairment not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in pro t or loss 
except for equity investments classi ed as available-for-sale.

Impairment losses are not subsequently reversed for available-
for-sale equity investments which are held at cost because fair 
value was not determinable.

Where nancial assets are impaired through use of an 
allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in 
pro t or loss within operating expenses. When such assets are 
written off, the write off is made against the relevant allowance 
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 
off are credited against operating expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair 
value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in pro t or 
loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. 
Signi cant nancial dif culties of the debtor, probability that the 
debtor will enter bankruptcy or nancial reorganisation, and 
default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators 
that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised 
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash ows 
discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial 
recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in pro t or loss within operating expenses. When 
a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the 
allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited against operating 

expenses in pro t or loss.

Trade and other receivables are classi ed as loans and 
receivables.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand 
deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are 
subject to an insigni cant risk of changes in value. These are 
initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

Bank overdraft and borrowings

Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at fair 
value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest rate method. Any difference between 
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement 
or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of 
the borrowings in accordance with the company’s accounting 
policy for borrowing costs.

Bank overdrafts and borrowings are classi ed as current 
liabilities unless the company has an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
statement of nancial position date.

1.4 LEASES

A lease is classi ed as a nance lease if it transfers substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease 
is classi ed as an operating lease if it does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Operating leases - lessor

Operating lease income is recognised as an income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between 
the amounts recognised as an income and the contractual 
receipts are recognised as an operating lease liability. This 
liability is not discounted.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 
operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term 
on the same basis as the lease income.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES



THE ENGINEERING COUNCIL OF SOUTH AFRICA           ANNUAL REPORT 2011/12 61

6SECTION 

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in pro t or loss.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between 
the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual 
payments are recognised as an operating lease asset. This 
asset is not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are 
incurred.

1.5 SHARE CAPITAL AND EQUITY

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities.

1.6 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short-term employee bene ts

The cost of short-term employee bene ts, (those payable 
within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid 
vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary 
bene ts such as medical care), are recognised in the period in 
which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised 
as an expense as the employees render services that increase 
their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, 
when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of pro t sharing and bonus payments is 
recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive 
obligation to make such payments as a result of past 
performance.

De ned contribution plans

A de ned contribution plan is a pension plan under which 
the group pays xed contributions into a separate entity.  
The company has no legal or constructive obligations to pay 
further contributions if the fund does not hold suf cient assets 
to pay all employees the bene ts relating to employee service 
in the current and prior periods.

Payments to de ned contribution retirement bene t plans are 
charged as an expense as they fall due. The company has no 
further payment obligations once the contributions have been 
paid.

Payments made to industry-managed (or state plans) 
retirement bene t schemes are dealt with as de ned 
contribution plans where the company’s obligation under the 
schemes is equivalent to those arising in a de ned contribution 
retirement bene t plan.

De ned bene t plans

De ned bene t plans de ne an amount of pension bene t 
that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent 
on one or more factors such as age, years of service and 
compensation.

For de ned bene t plans the cost of providing the bene ts is 
determined using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial valuations are conducted on an annual basis by 
independent actuaries separately for each plan.

Consideration is given to any event that could impact the 
funds up to the end of the reporting period where the interim 
valuation is performed at an earlier date.

Past service costs are recognised immediately to the extent that 
the bene ts are already vested, and are otherwise amortised 
on a straight line basis over the average period until the 
amended bene ts become vested.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the year in which 
they arise, in other comprehensive income.

The amount recognised in the statement of nancial position 
represents the present value of the de ned bene t obligation 
as adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and 
unrecognised past service costs, and reduces by the fair 
value of plan assets. The present value of the de ned bene t 
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future 
cash out ows using interest rates of high-quality corporate 
bonds and have terms to maturity approximating the terms of 
the related pension liability.

Any asset is limited to unrecognised actuarial losses and past 
service costs, plus the present value of available refunds and 
reduction in future contributions to the plan.

1.7 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Provisions are recognised when:

• the company has a present obligation as a result of a past 
event;

• it is probable that an out ow of resources embodying 
economic bene ts will be required to settle the
obligation; and

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is 
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity 
settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a 
separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement 
shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation 
under the contract shall be recognised and measured as a 
provision.

A constructive obligation to restructure arises only when an 
entity:

• has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring, identifying 
at least:

the business or part of a business concerned;

the principal locations affected;

the location, function, and approximate number of 
employees who will be compensated for terminating 
their services;

the expenditures that will be undertaken; and

when the plan will be implemented; and

• has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will 
carry out the restructuring by starting to implement that 
plan or announcing its main features to those affected by 
it.

After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised 
in business combinations that are recognised separately are 
subsequently measured at the higher of:

• the amount that would be recognised as a provision; and

• the amount initially recognised less cumulative 
amortisation.

1.8 REVENUE

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering 
of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 
with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage 
of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting 
period. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably 
when all the following conditions are satis ed:

•  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

•  it is probable that the economic bene ts associated with 
the transaction will ow to the company;

• the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the 
reporting period can be measured reliably; and

• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to 
complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable 
for goods and services provided in the normal course of 
business, net of trade discounts and volume rebates, and value 
added tax.

Interest is recognised, in pro t or loss, using the effective 
interest rate method.

Fee income are recorded in the nancial statements at the date 
when the fees are raised.

Fee income consists of annual fees, applications fees, 
registration fees, and accreditions of universities.

Annual fees comprise of membership fees.

Professional fees are payable by members who are quali ed as 
engineers (members who have obtained a university degree).

Candidates Fees are payable by members who are not yet 
quali ed as engineers (e.g. students or technicians).

Application fees are once-off fees payable on registration at 
ECSA. These fees are to compensate for the costs incurred 
during the evaluation process.

Fee income is recognised when payment is received.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

2.1 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT 
YET EFFECTIVE OR RELEVANT

The following standards and interpretations have been 
published and are mandatory for the company’s accounting 
periods beginning on or after 26 March 2012 or later periods 
but are not relevant to its operations:

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

New standard setting out guidance on the measurement and 
disclosure of items measured at fair value or required to be 
disclosed at fair value in terms of other IFRS’s.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or 
after 01 January 2013.

The company does not envisage the adoption of the standard 
until such time as it becomes applicable to the company’s 
operations.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the 
company’s nancial statements.

IAS 12 Income Taxes: Amendment: Deferred Tax: 
Recovery of Underlying Assets

The amendment now provides that for investment property 
measured at fair value, the recovery of the carrying amount is 
assumed to be through sale, with the result that deferred tax 
arising on the valuation is measured using the prevailing tax 
rate for capital gains.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on 
or after 01 January 2012.

The company does not envisage the adoption of the 
amendment until such time as it becomes applicable to the 
company’s operations.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on 
the company’s nancial statements.

IAS 19 Employee Bene ts Revised

• Require recognition of changes in the net de ned bene t 
liability (asset) including immediate recognition of de ned 
bene t cost, disaggregation of de ned bene t cost into 
components, recognition of remeasurements in other 
comprehensive income, plan amendments, curtailments 
and settlements

•  Introduce enhanced disclosures about de ned bene t 
plans

•  Modify accounting for termination bene ts, including 
distinguishing bene ts provided in exchange for service 
and bene ts provided in exchange for the termination of 
employment and affect the recognition and measurement 
of termination bene ts

• Clari cation of miscellaneous issues, including the 
classi cation of employee bene ts, current estimates of 
mortality rates, tax and administration costs and risk-
sharing and conditional indexation features

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on 
or after 01 January 2013.

The company does not envisage the adoption of the 
amendment until such time as it becomes applicable to the 
company’s operations.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on 
the company’s nancial statements.

Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of nancial 
statements

The amendment clari es the disclosure requirements for 
comparative information when an entity provides a third 

Section 6
Notes to the Financial Statements
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balance sheet either: as required by IAS 8, ‘Accounting policies, 
changes in accounting estimates and errors’; or voluntarily.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on 
or after 01 January 2013.

The company does not envisage the adoption of the standard 
until such time as it becomes applicable to the company’s 
operations.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on 
the company’s nancial statements.

Amendment to IAS 16 Property, plant and 
equipment

The amendment clari es that spare parts and servicing 
equipment are classi ed as property, plant and equipment 
rather than inventory when they meet the de nition of 
property, plant and equipment.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on 
or after 01 January 2013.

The company does not envisage the adoption of the standard 
until such time as it becomes applicable to the company’s 
operations.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on 
the company’s nancial statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. RISK MANAGEMENT

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The company’s objectives when managing capital are to 
safeguard the company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
in order to provide services as enacted by the Engineering 
Profession Act 2000, (Act 46 0f 2000) and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the company consists of debt, which 
includes the borrowings (excluding derivative nancial liabilities) 
disclosed in note 10, cash and cash equivalents disclosed in 
note 9, and equity as disclosed in the statement of nancial 
position. Consistent with others in the industry, the company 
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.

This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. 
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current 
and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the statement of 
nancial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital 

is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the statement of nancial 
position plus net debt.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages 
as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally 
imposed capital requirements from the previous year.

The gearing ratio at 2012 and 2011 respectively were as 
follows:

Total borrowings

Other nancial liabilities 10 3,520,459 4,172,500

Less: Cash and cash equivalents 9 7,614,600 7,305,314

Net debt (4,094,141) (3,132,814)

Total equity 19,516,791  18,298,897

Total capital 15,422,650 15,166,083

2012 2011

Notes R R
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The company’s activities expose it to a variety of nancial risks: 
market risk (including fair value and interest rate risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk.

The company’s overall risk management programme focuses 
on the unpredictability of nancial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the company’s nancial 
performance. Risk management is carried out by a central 
treasury department (company treasury) under policies 
approved by the board. The board provides written principles 
for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering 
speci c areas, such as interest rate risk and credit risk and 
investment of excess liquidity.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Cash ow forecasting is performed in the operating entities 
of the company in and aggregated by company nance. 
Company nance monitors rolling forecasts of the company’s 
liquidity requirements to ensure it has suf cient cash to meet 
operational needs while maintaining suf cient headroom on 
its undrawn committed borrowing facilities at all times so that 
the company does not breach borrowing limits or covenants 
(where applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities.

Surplus cash held by the operating entities over and above 
balance required for working capital management are 
transferred to the company treasury. Company treasury invests 
surplus cash in interest bearing current accounts, time deposits, 
money market deposits and marketable securities, choosing 
instruments with appropriate maturities or suf cient liquidity 
to provide suf cient head-room as determined by the above-  
mentioned forecasts.

The table below analyses the company’s non-derivative 
nancial liabilities and net-settled derivative nancial liabilities 

into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period 
at the statement of nancial position date to the contractual 
maturity date. Derivative nancial liabilities are included in 
the analysis if their contractual maturities are essential for an 
understanding of the timing of the cash ows. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash 
ows.

Comparative information has been restated as permitted by 
the amendments to IFRS 7 for the liquidity risk disclosures.

At 25 March 2012
Trade and other payables

Less than 1 year
 4,332,247

At 25 March 2011 
Trade and other payables

Less than 1 year
 5,597,076

INTEREST RATE RISK

As the company has no signi cant interest-bearing assets, the 
company’s income and operating cash ows are substantially 
independent of changes in market interest rates.

The company analyses its interest rate exposure on a regular 
basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into consideration 
re nancing, renewal of existing positions and alternative 
nancing. Based on these scenarios, the company calculates 

the impact on pro t and loss of a de ned interest rate shift. 
For each simulation, the same interest rate shift is used for all 
currencies.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents 
and trade debtors. The company only deposits cash with major 
banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to 
any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. 
Management evaluates credit risk relating to customers on an 
ongoing basis. ECSA has to comply with statutory oblilgations 
and no choice is exercised on the customers ability to pay 
membership fees.
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Buildings 7,691,993  (844,803) 6,847,190 

Furniture and xtures 694,134 (393,340) 300,794 

Motor vehicles 198,064  (158,451) 39,613 

Of ce equipment 691,032  (311,621) 379,411 

Computer equipment 1,662,391  (799,367) 863,024 

Improvements to premises 1,002,788 (395,042) 607,746 

Total 11,940,402 (2,902,624) 9,037,778 

2012 
Cost Accumulated

depreciation
Carrying

value

R R R

Buildings 7,691,993 (690,963) 7,001,030 

Furniture and xtures 602,002  (292,392) 309,610 

Motor vehicles 198,064 (118,839) 79,225 

Of ce equipment  662,151  (186,232)  475,919 

Computer equipment 982,564 (505,696) 476,868 

Improvements to premises 1,002,788  (294,763) 708,025 

Total 11,139,562 (2,088,885) 9,050,677 

2011 
Restated

Cost Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

R R R

4.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings 7,691,993 (537,123) 7,154,870

Furniture and xtures 366,250 - 366,250

Motor vehicles 118,838 - 118,838

Of ce equipment 340,020 - 340,020

Computer equipment  418,413 - 418,413

Improvements to premises 808,304 - 808,304

Total 9,743,818 (537,123) 9,206,695

2010
Restated

Cost/
Valuation

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

R R R
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Opening
balance

Additions Depreciation Total

R R R R

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2012

4. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Buildings 7,001,030 - (153,840) 6,847,190

Furniture and xtures 309,610 92,133 (100,949) 300,794

Motor vehicles 79,225 - (39,612) 39,613

Of ce equipment 475,919 28,881 (125,389) 379,411

Computer equipment 476,868 679,827 ( 293,671) 863,024

Improvements to premises 708,025 - (100,279) 607,746

9,050,677 800,841 (813,740) 9,037,778

Opening
Opening

Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

R R R R

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2011- Restated

Buildings 7,154,870 - - (153,840) 7,001,030

Furniture and xtures 367,784 39,311 - (97,485) 309,610

Motor vehicles 118,838 - - (39,613) 79,225

Of ce equipment 340,020 238,502 - (102,603)  475,919

Computer equipment 418,413 352,479 (24,201) (269,823) 476,868

Improvements to premises 808,304 - - (100,279) 708,025

9,208,229 630,292 (24,201) (763,643) 9,050,677

Opening
balance

Additions Depreciation Total

R R R R

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2010- Restated

Buildings 7,308,710 - (153,840) 7,154,870

Furniture and xtures 282,542 160,564 (76,856) 366,250

Motor vehicles 158,451 - (39,613) 118,838

Of ce equipment 117,319 266,304 (43,603) 340,020

Computer equipment 392,695 235,466 (209,748)  418,413

Property, plant and equipment 1 616,938 277,109 (85,743) 808,304

8,876,655 939,443 (609,403) 9,206,695
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4. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Details of properties

Building Section 5 to 8 Waterview Corner

T 013126/2009

Section 5 includes 631 square metres.

Sections 6 includes 383 square metres.

Section 7 includes 237 square metres.

Section 8 includes 456 square metres.

• Purchase price: 29 April 2009 6,280,750 6,280,750 6,280,750

Building Section 9 and 10 Waterview Corner
T 57553/1999
Section 9 includes 212 square metres.
Section 10 includes 329 square metres.

• Purchase price: 30 September 1999 1,411,243 1,411,243 1,411,243

Section 16
T044549/2005

• Purchase price: 10 August 2005 5,000 5,000 5,000

(a) An undivided share in the common property (Section 5 -8, 9-
10 and 16) in the scheme apportioned to the said section in 
accordance with the participation quota as endorsed on the 
said sectional plan.

5. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Available-for-sale 

SIS In ation plus 1-3 Investments 8,078,442 7,458,749 6,912,961

These instruments consist of investments held at nancial institutions and 
their market values quoted in the market place.

Non-current assets
Available-for-sale 8,078,442 7,458,749 6,912,961

For debt securities classi ed as available-for-sale, the maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value.

The company has not reclassi ed any nancial assets from cost or 
amortised cost to fair value, or from fair value to cost or amortise 
cost during the current or prior year.

SIS In ation 4,823,425 4,823,425

Fair value adjustment - previous years 2,635,324 2,129,234

Fair value adjustment - current year recognised in Other comprehensive income 502,824 506,090

Earnings recognised in pro t and loss for the period 116,869 -

Fair value at year-end 8,078,442 7,458,749

2012 2011
Restated

2010
Restated

Notes R R R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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7. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Income statement charge for:

Pension bene ts 1,853,627 1,871,303 1,745,398

Actuarial losses recognised in the statement of other 761,000 516,000 3,750,000

comprehensive income in the period (before tax)

Cumulative actuarial losses recognised in the statement of other 5,027,000  4,266,000 3,750,000

comprehensive income(before tax)

Pension bene ts

Plan assets are held in Sanlam Matrix 50 portfolia and the return is 
based  on the performance of the portfolio.

The assets underlying the Employer Surplus Account and the 
Solvency Reserve have been included  in the asset value.

The funds are administered by a separete legal entity and as a 
result, the assets belonging to the Fund are credit remote.

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined as follows:

Present value of the de ned bene t obligation-partially or wholly funded (19,024,000) (15,981,000) (17,783,000)

Fair value of plan assets 25,052,000 24,200,000 23,654,000

Asset not recognised(IAS 19,paragraph 58(b)) (4,709,000) (7,017,000) (4,788,000)

1,319,000 1,202,000  1,083,000

2012 2011
Restated

2010
Restated

Notes R R R

Trade and other receivables 1,539,856 1,539,856

Cash and cash equivalents 7,614,600 7,614,600

9,154,456 9,154,456

2012

Loans and
receivables

Total

R R

6. FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY

The accounting policies for nancial instruments have been applied to the 
line items below:

TTrade and other receivables 3,029,224 3,029,224

Cash and cash equivalents 7,305,314  7,305,314

10,334,538 10,334,538

2011

Loans and
receivables

Total

R R
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7. Retirement bene ts (continued)

Nett asset amount recognition, was determined on the 
following basis:

The de nitions of the Fund provide for the establishment of an 
Employer Surplus Account (”ESA”). Rule 13.3.3 states that future 
surplus be allocated between the ESA and Member Surplus 
Account in proportions as determined by the trustees.

In these circumstances, AC 504 states that the present value of 
the economic bene ts available to the employer (par. 58(b)(ii) 
of IAS 19) is the value of the ESA plus the accounting surplus 
available as a reduction in future contributions. As con rmed 
by Absa Consultants and Actuaries, the value of the ESA was 
R1,319,000 as at 31 March 2012. Furthermore, since there are 
no active De ned Bene t members in the Fund (as per the 
valuation report), accounting surplus available as a reduction in 
future contributions is zero. The present value of the economic 
bene ts available to the employer is therefore R1,319,000.

The value of the asset re ected on the balance sheet should be 

determined in terms of par. 58 of IAS 19. This states that the net 
asset recognised should be the lower of the value determined 
under par. 54 and the sum of the cumulative unrecognised 
losses (par. 58(b)(i)) and the present value of the economic 
bene ts available to the employer (par. 58(b)(ii)). The values for 
the past three years are as follows (the actuary provided the 
ESA balance as at each date):

The value determined under par. 54 was R6,028,000 as at 31 
March 2012. The value of par. 58(b)(i) was zero and par. 58(b)(ii) 
was R1,319,000. Therefore, the net asset as at 31 March 2012 
should be limited to R1,319,000.

The value determined under par. 54 was R8,219,000 as at 31 
March 2011. The value of par. 58(b)(i) was zero and par. 58(b)(ii) 
was R1,202,000. Therefore the net asset as at 31 March 2011 
should be limited to R1,202,000.

The value determined under par. 54 was R5,870,000 as at 31 
March 2010. The value of par. 58(b)(i) was zero and par. 58(b)(ii) 
was R1,083,000. Therefore the net asset as at 31 March 2010 
should be limited to R1,083,000.

Movements for the year

At 1 January 1,981,000 17,783,000  -

Current service cost - 35,000 -

Interest cost 1,403,000 1,515,000 -

Actuarial losses/(gains) 3,068,000  (1,407,000) -

Bene ts paid (1,428,000)  (1,945,000) -

19,024,000 15,981,000 17,783,000

The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the year is as follows:

At 1 January 24,200,000 23,654,000 -

Expected return on plan assets 2,281,000 2,158,000 -

Actuarial losses/(gains) (1,000) 306,000 -

Employer contributions - 27,000  -

Bene ts paid (1,428,000) (1,945,000) -

25,052,000 24,200,000 23,654,000

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

Current service cost - (35,000)

Interest cost (1,403,000) (1,515,000)

Expected return on plan assets 2,281,000 2,158,000

Past service cost - 27,000

878,000 635,000

2012 2011
Restated

2010
Restated

Notes R R R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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General in ation rate 5.96 % 14.14 % 5.10 %

Discount rate 8.54 % 9.18 % 9.00 %

Expected investment return 10.43 % 9.71 % 9.50 %

The assumptions used are consistent with assumptions used in the statutory valuation. However, IAS 19

requires the valuation to be carried out on a prescribed market value basis and a number of the assumptions

therefore differ from those used in the statutory valuation.

Valuation rate of interest -IAS 19 Requires rates to be determined  by reference to the current market yield of

government bonds. The discount rate is based on the yield of the R 186 government bond.

The expected return on assets are based  on an average balances portfolio.

The expected long term real return is 4%, calculated as follows: return

Equity 70% 4.5% 3.15%

Bonds 30% 3.00% 0.9%

100% 4%

The difference between  the yield on a xed interest government bond and the yield on an  index linked government bond will 
give an indication of the in ation expectation in the market. For this purpose, the yield on the R 186 xed interest  government 
bond and the R 197 index linked government bond as at valuation date were used.

In accordance with the Pension Increase Policy, increases should be granted equal to the increase in the Consumer Price Index, 
subject to affordability.

2012 2011
Restated

2010
Restated

R R R

Of the total charge, R 0 (2011: R 8,000 ) is recognised in ‘salaries and wages’.

The actual return on plan assets was R 2,280,000 (2011: R2,491,000).

The fair value of plan assets includes:

Sanlam Matrix 50 portfolio

The assets underlying the Employer Surplus Account and the Solvency Reserve have been included  in the asset value.

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

Assumptions used on last valuation on .

% of 
Portfolio

Real return Weighted
return
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Number of 
pensioners 

(R’000) 

Annual 
pension 

Pension
weighted

average age

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. Retirement bene ts (continued)

In respect of the period after retirement, the published a (55) tables 
for males and females have been used.

31 March 2012 

• Males  5 436 40.2

• Females 5 956 48.1
10 1,392 45.6

31 March 2011 

•  Males 5 399 39

•  Females 6 1,039 43.4
11  1,438 42.6

31 March 2011 

•  Males 4 308 46.3

•  Females 5 1,006  43.7
9 1,314 44.3

8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 6,550,528  2,668,728 2,634,368
Impairment on trade receivables (2,690,402) - -
Deposits 77,225 50,871 2,000
Staff loans and study assistance 233,902 309,625 307,512

4,171,253  3,029,224 2,943,880

The following deposits are held

Deposits 77,225 50,871  2,000

Fair value of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables 4,171,253 3,029,224 2,943,880

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
At 25 March 2012, R 3,707,902 (2011: R - ; 2010: R -) 
were past due but not impaired.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

Past due but not impaired 3,707,902  -  -

Trade and other receivables impaired

The amount of the provision was R (2,690,402) as of 
25 March 2012 (2011: R - ; 2010: R -).

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

Provision for impairment 2,690,402 - -
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9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 4,534 2,092 3,123

Bank balances 7,610,066 7,303,222 4,711,320

7,614,600 7,305,314 4,714,443

The entity has access to an overdraft facility of R 2 million which will 
be reviewed on 30 October 2012.

10. BORROWINGS

Held at amortised cost

Bond on Sec 5-8  - ABSA Bank 3,520,459 4,172,500 4,722,125

Interest at a rate of 8.25% is applicable on the bond

and is to repay within 10 years.

Non-current liabilities

At amortised cost 2,795,789 3,622,875 4,218,125

Current liabilities

At amortised cost 724,670 549,625 504,000

3,520,459 4,172,500 4,722,125

11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 3,782,308 2,999,338 2,412,806

VAT 794,655 505,360 325,805

Accrued payroll expenses 953,607 772,551 1,684,254

Rental deposits 55,000 55,000 55,000

Leave pay provision 1,598,253 1,242,318 893,123

7,183,823 5,574,567 5,370,988

Fair value of trade and other payables

Trade payables 7,195,331 5,574,567 5,370,988

2012 2011
Restated

2010
Restated

Notes R R R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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12. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The accounting policies for nancial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2012
Trade and other payables 7,195,329 7,195,329

Borrowings 3,520,459 3,520,459

10,715,788 10,715,788

2011

Trade and other payables 5,574,656 5,574,656

Borrowings 4,172,500 4,172,500

9,747,156 9,747,156

13. REVENUE

Annual fees 41,103,634 35,856,114

Application fees 6,206,095 5,443,239

Accreditation visits 1,636,351 -

48,946,080 41,299,353

In the prior year revenue from accreditation visits were set off 
against expense of Council and Committee meetings.

14. OTHER INCOME

Evaluation of Quali cations 376,437 423,235

Disciplinary Fines 185,000  234,040

Rental income 470,583 408,623

Income from Seta’s and Corporate Affairs 558,665 524,953

Recoveries from cancelled registered persons 165,385 477,040

Pro t from sale of xed assets - 10,250

Other income 72,799 847,374

1,828,869 2,925,515

6SECTION 

Financial
liabilities at
amortised

cost

Total

R R

2012 2011

R R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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6SECTION 

15. EXPENSES BY NATURE

Auditors remuneration 390,778 242,224

Professional services 1,040,726 1,130,793

Projects 4,849,892 4,164,407

Council and committee meetings 9,062,713 5,969,537

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 3,504,141 763,643

Employee costs 22,758,316 19,631,731

Other expenses 9,262,036 9,945,809

Total cost of sales, distribution costs and administrative expenses 50,868,602  41,848,144

16. INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest revenue

Investment revenue on available-for-sale investments 206,722 119,441

Bank 800,935 787,344

Expected return on De ned Bene t Assets 2,281,000 2,158,000

3,288,657 3,064,785

17. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on overdraft facilities - 61

Interest paid 315,934 389,658

De ned Bene t Plan Interest cost 1,403,000 1,515,000

1,718,934 1,904,719

18. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Council is exempt from income tax in terms of Section 10(1)(cA) of the Income Tax Act.

19. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

Wages and salaries, including restructuring costs and other termination 20,904,689 17,752,428

bene ts

Pension costs - De ned bene t plans 1,853,627 1,871,303

22,758,316 19,623,731

20. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Consulting 258,600 65,789

Secretarial services 132,178 176,435

390,778 242,224

2012 2011
Restated

R R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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6SECTION 

21. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Components of other comprehensive income - 2012

Available-for-sale nancial assets adjustments

Gains and losses arising during the year 502,824 - 502,824

Actuarial gains (losses) on de ned bene t plans (761,000) - (761,000)

Total (258,176) - (258,176)

Components of other comprehensive income - 2011

Gross Tax Net

Available-for-sale nancial assets adjustments

Reclassi cation adjustments for available-for-sale nancial 506,090 - 506,090

assets

Actuarial gains (losses) on de ned bene t plans  (516,000) - (516,000)

Total (9,910) - (9,910)

Components of other comprehensive income - 2010

Gross Tax Net

Available-for-sale nancial assets adjustments

Cumulative Gains and losses arising during the year 2,129,234 - 2,129,234

Actuarial gains (losses) on de ned bene t plans  (3,705,000) - (3,705,000)

Total (1,575,766) - 1,575,766)

Gross Tax Net

R R R

22. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Pro t before taxation 1,476,070 3,536,790

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 813,739  763,643

Interest received (3,288,657) (3,064,785)

Finance costs 1,718,934 1,904,719

Impairment on trade receivables 2,690,402 -

Movements in retirement bene t assets and liabilities (878,000) (635,000)

Other non-cash items - 4,151

Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables (3,832,431)  (86,879)

Trade and other payables 1,609,256 203,580

309,313 2,626,219

2012 2011

R R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2012 2011

R R

6SECTION NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. COMMITMENTS

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)

Minimum lease payments due

- within one year 676,153 685,805

- in second to fth year inclusive 466,888 1,143,043

- later than ve years - -

1,143,041 1,828,848

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the company for certain of its 
equipment. Leases are negotiated for an average term of seven years and rentals are xed 
for an average of three years. No contingent rent is payable.

Operating leases – as lessor (income)

Minimum rental income due

- within one year 158,664 429,851

- in second to fth year inclusive - -

- later than ve years - -

158,664 429,851

Certain lease income represents rentals receivable by the company for lease of 
section no.16. The lease term expires 31 July 2012.

24. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Litigation is in process against the company and ECSA’s legal representatives are of the 
opinion that the claim, which is estimated not to exceed an amount of R 500,000, can 
be successfully resisted by the company. The dispute is expected to be nalised by 28 
February 2013.
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Remuneration Contribution
to retirement

plan

Total25. KEY PERSONNEL EMOLUMENTS

Remuneration paid to key personnel

2012

Chief Executive Of cer 1,409,732 163,162 1,572,894

Specialist consultant (on annual contract)  923,533 - 923,533

Special assistant to the CEO 779,978 - 779,978

Senior manager operations 538,862 60,743 599,605

Manager corporate communications (consultant) 740,082  - 740,082

Manager corporate communications (permanent appointment) 215,296 - 215,296

Manager education 505,076  58,272 563,348

Manager nance 721,831 78,828 800,659

Manager human resources 787,267  - 787,267

Manager legal services 559,022  63,536  622,558

Manager registration and consultant for registration (consultant) 567,941 - 567,941

Manager registration (ex-senior manager operations) 179,621 20,248 199,869

Executive strategic services 361,248 - 361,248

Executive statutory services 242,847 - 242,847

8,532,336 444,789 8,977,125

2011

Chief Executive Of cer 1,288,980 155,393 1,444,373

Specialist consultant (on annual contract)  879,425 - 879,425

Special assistant to the CEO 684,880 - 684,880

Senior manager operations 624,455  77,134 701,589

Manager corporate communications (consultant) 506,977 - 506,977

Manager corporate communications (permanent appointment) - - -

Manager education 445,582 55,497 501,079

Manager nance 606,747 75,074 681,821

Manager human resources 577,800 - 577,800

Manager legal services 485,684 60,510 546,194

Manager registration and consultant for registration (consultant) 445,600 - 445,600

6,546,130 423,608  6,969,738

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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26.  PRIOR PERIOD ERROR

Investments held at Investec Bank and Standard Bank Money market account were incorrectly classi ed as investments instead of 
cash and cash equivalents. Retained earnings is not effected, as this is a classi cation error in current and non-current assets.

Previously no depreciation was recognised on buildings in terms of IAS 16.

Depreciation should be provided, and a useful life of 50 years is considered appropriate.

The effect of this is a decrease in opening Retained Earnings of 2010 R 537,123 and an increase in Accumulated Depreciation for 
2011 of R 690,963  to account for the prior period depreciation.

The current period effect will be a decrease in Pro t (increase in Depreciation) of R153,840 and an increase in Accumulated 
Depreciation of R153,840.

During the previous nancial period, expenses were accrued with regards to accommodation for Council and Committee 
Members for University Accreditation Visits. These expenses were however reversed as a receivable at year end (2011) as the 
invoices to recover the costs were not yet raised at year end. This is regarded as an accounting error as expenses are required to 
be recognised in the year in which they accrue.The correction of this error will have the following effect on the nancial statements, 
decrease on accounts receivable for 2011 and increase in operating expenditure of R 681,600.

ECSA’s De ned Bene t Plan was not recognised in accordance with IAS 19 or disclosed in terms of IAS 19.120A.

The correction of the error(s) results in adjustments as follows

27.  GOING CONCERN

The nancial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern.

This basis presumes that funds will be available to nance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of 
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

28. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The director is not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the nancial year.

Statement of Financial Position 

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 7,475,882 6,149,071 -

(Decrease)/increase in investments (7,475,882) (6,149,071) -

(Increase)/decrease accumulated depreciation  - (153,840)  (537,123)

(Decrease)/Increase in accounts receivable -  (681,600) -

(Decrease)/Increase in de ned bene t asset 20,343,000  17,183,000 18,866,000

Decrease/(Increase)in de ned bene t obligation  (19,024,000) (15,981,000) (17,783,000)

Statement of Pro t/Loss 

Increase/(decrease) in depreciation 153,840 153,840 153,840

Decrease/(increase) in opening retained earnings - 153,840  (545,877)

Increase/(decrease) in operating expenditure - 681,600 -

Increase / (Decrease) in Other Comprehensive income (761,000)  (516,000) (3,705,000)

6SECTION 

2012 2011
Restated

2010
Restated

Notes R R R

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue

Miscellaneous other revenue 1,636,351 -

Annual fees 41,103,634 35,856,114

Application fees 6,206,095 5,443,239

13 48,946,080 41,299,353

Other income

Evaluation of Quali cations 376,437 423,235

Royalties received 185,000 234,040

Rent received 470,583 408,623

Corporate affairs and accreditation visits revenue 558,665 524,953

Bad debts recovered 165,385 477,040

Pro t on sale of xed assets - 10,250

Sundry income 72,799 847,374

Interest received 16 3,288,657  3,064,785

5,117,526 5,990,300

Expenses (Refer to page 39) (50,868,602)  (41,848,144)

Operating pro t 3,195,004 5,441,509

Finance costs 17 (1,718,934)  (1,904,719)

Pro t for the year  1,476,070 3,536,790

2012 2011
Restated

Notes R R

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the nancial statements and is unaudited

6SECTION 
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Operating expenses

Auditor’s remuneration 20 (390,778)  (242,224)

Bank charges (218,366)  (185,647)

Council and Committee meetings 13  (9,062,713) (5,969,537)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments (3,504,141) (763,643)

Employee costs  (22,758,316)  (19,631,731)

Corporate Communication Services (1,040,726) (1,130,793)

Disciplinary matters and nes (923,518) (1,210,859)

Projects (4,849,892)  (4,164,407)

Body Corporate (1,408,707)  (1,302,590)

Investigations  (304,738)  (368,373)

Investment fees (89,853) (83,894)

IT expenses  (536,687) (580,187)

Insurance (252,612) (252,884)

Legal expenses (131,912) (72,413)

Fees  (670,360)  (719,784)

Maintenance (168,700) (401,548)

Motor vehicle expenses (26,839) (24,720)

Of ce expenditure (52,606) (42,234)

Membership Fees (127,033) (74,277)

Pest control (27,593) (51,676)

Personnel recruitment (102,384) (141,002)

Printing, stationery and publications (538,414) (482,096)

Finance Agreements: Of ce/Computer  Equipment (1,117,782)  (1,301,383)

Repairs and maintenance  (596,218)  (363,608)

Committee Room expenses (56,778) (46,905)

Security (16,471) -

Staff welfare (139,767) (172,861)

Telephone and fax (732,092) (890,090)

Training  (463,020) (707,786)

Travel - local (525,207)  (456,792)

Travel - overseas (2,899)  -

Parking (31,480) (12,200)

(50,868,602) 41,848,144)

DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT

2012 2011
Restated

Notes R R

6SECTION 
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7SECTION 
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7SECTION 

Category A
Associations whose membership consists of natural persons who, subject to the applicable provisions of Rule 4, are – 

• Practising in any particular discipline or sub-discipline of engineering; or

• Practising in any particular category of registration contemplated in section 18 of the Act.

Abbreviation Name

AeSSA Aeronautical Society of South Africa

AMMSA Association of Mine Managers of South Africa

AMRE Association of Mine Resident Engineers

CEASA Clinical Engineering Association of South Africa

COET The Chamber of Engineering Technology

CSSA Concrete Society of Southern Africa

ICMEESA Institution of Certi cated Mechanical and Electrical Engineering

IEEE Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers South African Section 

IMESA Institution of Municipal Engineering of Southern Africa

INCOSE International Council of Systems Engineering (SA Chapter)

IPET Institute of Professional Engineering Technologists

LIASA Lift Inspectors Association of South Africa

NSBE National Society of Black Engineers

SAAMA South African Asset Management Association

SACEA South African Colliery Engineers’ Association

SACMA South African Colliery Managers Association

SAIAE South African Institute of Agricultural Engineers

SAICE South African Institution of Civil Engineering

SAIChE South African Institution of Chemical Engineers

SAIEE South African Institute of Electrical Engineers

SAIIE Southern African Institute of Industrial Engineers

SAIMechE The South African Institution of Mechanical Engineering

SAIMENA South African Institute of Marine Engineers and Naval Architects

SAIMM South African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy

SAIRAC South African Institute of Refrigeration and Air-Conditioning

SAT Society for Asphalt Technology

Annexure B

Recognised Voluntary Associations
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7SECTION 

Category B
Associations whose membership consists of natural persons who, subject to the applicable provisions of rule 5, are – 

• Practising in engineering or in any of the professions in the built environment contemplated in section 1(iv) of the 
Council for the Built Environment Act, 2000; or

• Practising in engineering or in any of the scienti c professions contemplated in Section A and B of Schedule I of the 
Natural Scienti c Professions Act, 1993 (Act No. 106 of 1993). 

Abbreviation Name
SAFHE South Africa Federation of Hospital Engineers
SAID South Africa Institute of Draughting
SAIMC South Africa Institute of Measurement and Control
WISA Water Institute of South Africa

Category C
Associations whose membership consists of juristic persons, including sole proprietors, who, subject to the applicable 

provisions of rule 6, are engaged in carrying out work of an engineering nature. 

Abbreviation Name

AMEU Association of Municipal Electricity Undertakings

BEPEC Built Environment Professions Export Council

CESA Consulting Engineers South Africa

IESSA Illuminating Engineering Society of South Africa

IQSA Institute of Quarrying Southern Africa

ITC Institute of Timber Construction

SAFA South African Flameproof Association

SAFCEC South African Federation of Civil Engineering Contractors

SAFPA South African Fluid Power Association

SAISC South African Institute of Steel Construction

SAIW South African Institute of Welding

SARF South African Road Federation

SASTT Southern African Society for Trenchless Technology




